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Enterprise Culture
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ERKBEREFENNERERAR

Vision
Establish the Group as an
internationally influential
enterprise by
environment-friendly
clean energy

&
HRBEEREE
REANBRERR

AETAENR
AR Al E 5

Missions . Objectives
Develop business of Bl RER Create value for our
clean energy MEEE ABAL customers
Contribute BFEL BIZEH BBAE Create future for our
sustainability to society employees

Create rewards for our
shareholders

Core Values

Integrity
Group interest as priority
Customer orientation
Innovation
Teamwork

IT#5E
HEYE ATAE
BB BEARE
TDER BESX

Working environment

Respect Righteous
Disciplined Precise
Initiative Positive

Passionate Ambitious
Practical Diligent
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China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 603) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment
in natural gas and energy related business. Operations of the Group include
piped city gas business, pipeline design and construction; transportation,
distribution and sale of compressed natural gas (“CNG”) and liquefied
natural gas (“LNG"); and development, production and sale of crude oil and
gas and other upstream energy resources.

As a piped city natural gas service provider, the Group supplies city natural
gas through long-distance transmission pipelines. With 75 concession
rights, the Group has built up city pipeline networks which offer stable and
sufficient natural gas resources to local household, industrial, commercial
and other users. As a non-pipeline natural gas provider, the Group has
established 2 LNG plants in Qinghai Province, the PRC. Meanwhile, the
Group has also built certain CNG primary stations to ensure a smooth supply
of natural gas all year round. These facilities support supplies of natural gas
to cities not yet covered by pipeline networks and are treated as emergency
backup gas sources for the Group.

As a major national operator of natural gas stations for automobile natural
gas filling, the Group has built 39 CNG stations, 10 LNG stations and 6
L/CNG stations across the country. All kinds of automobiles, city buses and
long-distance buses can be converted into natural gas operation system
by paying an affordable fee. Some of the provinces will provide subsidy to
automobile owners who are willing to convert their automobile into natural
gas operating system. With support from the PRC government, the Group
offers inexpensive, clean and environmental friendly natural gas to the
transportation sector.

As an operator of natural gas branch line business, the Group has already
completed 1,073 km branch lines in Qinghai, Hunan, Jiangsu, Jiangxi,
Shanxi, Shandong, Guizhou, Guangdong, Anhui and Hubei Province. Apart
from bringing in stable natural gas transmission revenue, the branch line
constructions will also facilitate the development of projects along the down-
stream.

The Group has well established a large-scale developed natural gas transport
and logistics operation in the PRC, including the set up of LNG and CNG fleets
which have reinforced the mobility and coverage of our natural gas supplies.

As an upstream energy resources producer, the Group engages in the
development, production and sale of crude oil and gas and other resources
in Alberta of Canada. The exploration and production business of the Group
has the proved reserves of approximately 22.8 million barrels of oil equivalent
and the proved plus probable reserves of approximately 35 million barrels of
oil equivalent. Its average daily production was 4,849 barrels of oil equivalent
in 2017. Our exploration and production business possesses energy business
in production, a very experienced management team with proven tracking
records, a stable production assets portfolio and strong profitability with
considerable potential for growth.
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Natural Gas Distribution Business in China
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Oil and Gas Production Business in Canada

MEXMREEEH

Proved (Producing)
A= (EEP)

Proved (Non-producing)

RPFECRERE)

Proved (Undeveloped)
REAfE = (REAE)

Probable % #l/f# =

Reserves (MBOE) it E (THMEE)

THRHEE 34.98

10,041 TOTAL:

MMBOE
AR e =2
442 ﬁ%ﬁ/ [==NE==R
MBOE
THRHREE

MBOE
THRAEE
12,223
MBOE
T

e =
=)

0

10,000

20,000 30,000

FHRREEARAR 2017FFH 5



Corporate Information
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
ZHU Yuan

GUAN Yijun

CHEUNG Shing

Independent Non-Executive Directors
LI Yunlong

WANG Guangtian

YANG lJie

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN Yuen Ying Stella

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
XU Tie-liang
CHAN Yuen Ying Stella

AUDIT COMMITTEE
LI Yunlong (Chairman)

WANG Guangtian
YANG Jie

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
LI Yunlong (Chairman)

WANG Guangtian

CHEUNG Shing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

WANG Guangtian (Chairman)
LI Yunlong
CHEUNG Shing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

XU Tie-liang (Chairman)
ZHU Yuan

GUAN Yijun

CHEUNG Shing

LAW Yin Shan Jenny
CHAN Yuen Ying Stella

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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LEGAL ADVISERS

(As to Hong Kong Law)
LI & Partners

(As to PRC Law)
Beijing Huaao Law & Partners

PRINCIPAL REGISTRARS
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG

Suite 2805, 28th Floor
Sino Plaza

255-257 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

STOCK CODE
603

WEBSITE AND E-MAIL ADDRESS

Website: http://www.hk603.com
E-mail: info@hk603.com
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The year 2017 showed a stable development with good momentum
for China’s macro economy. The government continuously promotes
the optimisation of energy structure and accelerates the building of an
“ecological society”. As a result, consumption of natural gas showed a rapid
growth of 17% during the year, reaching a new record in annual growth
in China. The Group leveraged fully on its market and business advantages
to seize opportunities and explore new markets. Subsequently, the Group's
sales of city gas achieved rapid growth, and made progress in project
development and user expansion through its continuous optimisation of
assets and business structure. All businesses showed a rapid and consistent
trend of development.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s overall
operational and financial performance was satisfactory. Total revenue
increased by 19% to HK$7,651 million (2016: HK$6,446 million), and gross
profit increased by 8% to HK$1,216 million (2016: HK$1,128 million). After
excluding the impact of one-off items (including other gains, net and reversal
of impairment losses on oil and gas properties under property, plant and
equipment), the Group’s recurring profit before taxation was HK$784 million
(2016: HK$652 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 20%.
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Chairman’s Statement
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CITY PIPELINE NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

Sales and distributions of natural gas

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded sales
and distribution of natural gas income of HK$6,774 million (2016: HK$5,424
million), representing a 25% increase and accounting for 89% of total
revenue. During the year, the Group's total gas sales volume increased
by 20% to 3,309 million cubic meters (2016: 2,769 million cubic meters).
External pipeline gas transmission volume increased significantly by 122% to
756 million cubic meters (2016: 340 million cubic meters), and the external
transportation volume was 11 million cubic meters (2016: 11 million cubic
meters).

Gas sales volume for industrial and commercial users increased rapidly to
2,135 million cubic meters (2016: 1,599 million cubic meters), representing
a year-on-year increase of 34%. For residential users, gas sales volume was
805 million cubic meters (2016: 808 million cubic meters), while for gas
stations, the figure stood at 369 million cubic meters (2016: 362 million
cubic meters), representing 65%, 24% and 11% of the total gas sales
volume respectively (2016: 58%, 29% and 13%).

Industrial and Commercial Users —
Gas Sales Volume

THEMFPAARHES

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (4)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (4&)

Development of new users

During the year, the Group connected 127,100 new residential users, and
1,157 new industrial and commercial users. Total connections for residential
users and industrial and commercial users were 1,235,497 (2016: 1,108,397)
and 10,426 (2016: 9,269) respectively, which were increased by 12% and
13% as compared to 2016. As local governments continuously advance the
“Coal to Gas Project”, the number of new users is expected to maintain
a stable growth in the future. Industrial and commercial users have higher
demand for natural gas as compared to residential users, making their
development a first priority for the Group. As number of users increase,
the Group will continue to improve service quality and optimise safety
management systems to provide stable, safe, clean and high-quality supply
of energy to all end-users.

A FB %
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (4)

Gas Sales Volume Breakdown — By Province
RARIHEEN T —1RED

2017 2016
Province 1) —E—tF —ZE—RF
Qinghai 58 43.9% 46.4%
Shandong iz 10.4% 9.9%
Hunan biilEz] 8.8% 10.9%
Jiangsu TTER 12.9% 11.9%
Guangdong ER 4.8% 4.4%
Jiangxi i 5.0% 5.0%
Hubei iisld 3.0% 3.3%
Shanxi [8iii) 7.8% 5.3%
Guizhou M 2.6% 1.0%
Others Hitw 0.8% 2.0%

New project expansion

In 2017, besides the improvement of city natural gas networks in existing
statutory areas, the Group also made efforts to develop new markets by
acquiring gas concession rights. During the year, the Group successively
obtained city gas concession rights for the five projects in Zhengchang Town
(Xiantao City, Hubei Province), Fanshui Town (Jiangsu Province), Dafeng
District of Yancheng City (Jiangsu Province), Pai Hu Scenic (Xiantao City,
Hubei Province), and Beichuan Industrial Park (Xining City, Qinghai Province),
as well as a natural gas utilisation project in Chishan Town, Shangli County,
Pingxiang City, Jiangxi Province.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has established a total of 144 natural
gas project companies in 15 provinces and autonomous regions, with 75
concession rights in the PRC. In 2017, the total length of its high-pressure
long-distance pipelines reached 1,073 km, which effectively promoted the
development of downstream projects.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (4&)

EXPLOITATION AND PRODUCTION OF CRUDE OIL
AND NATURAL GAS

In 2017, the Group has continued the business of exploitation and
production of light crude oil and natural gas in Canada. According to
the reserve report prepared by GLJ Petroleum Consultants for the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Group has proved plus probable reserves
of 35 million barrels of oil equivalent (2016: 33.1 million barrels of oil
equivalent), representing an increase of 6% year-on-year. In 2017, average
daily production was 4,849 barrels of oil equivalent. The average operating
netback was CA$23.23 per barrel of oil equivalent in 2017 (2016: CA$18.78
per barrel of oil equivalent), representing a 24% increase.

Operating Netback
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The Group's upstream business operating netback
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SENIOR NOTES AND CREDIT RATING

In April 2017, the Group successfully issued senior notes with the nominal
value of US$350 million at a low cost rate of 4.625%, which was the lowest
among the five-year bonds issued by utility companies with the same credit
rating.

Rating agencies Ratings
Ba2 (Stable)
BB (Positive)

Moody'’s
Standard & Poor

The Group was rated “BB” by Standard & Poor with a positive rating
outlook, and was rated “Ba2” by Moody’s with a stable rating outlook,
reflecting the Company’s healthy financial position and promising
operational prospects.

.

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (4)
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(continued) (#&)

In 2017, consumption of natural gas in China reached 235.2 billion cubic
meters, accounting for 7% of the total consumption of primary energy.
According to the Chinese government’s 13th Five-Year Plan, “the annual
consumption of natural gas will reach 360 billion cubic meters by 2020,
and the proportion of natural gas consumption in the total consumption of
primary energy should reach 10%". Therefore, there is a huge potential for
development in the country’s natural gas industry. Accordingly, the Group
will refine its strategic planning and prepare to seize new opportunities and
meet the new challenges of the coming era. Overall, it will continue to move
forward at a controlled rate, maintain a stable development of the Group’s
businesses, and strive to achieve its medium-to long-term targets. Firstly,
the Group will focus on its principal business in cities and increase its share
in the end-user market. It will devote more efforts to developing markets
in statutory areas, acquiring concession rights, finding means to improve
efficiency and increasing its market share in the gas industry. Additionally,
the Group will allocate reasonable resources to ensure an adequate supply
of natural gas, and conduct market development and marketing effectively
and efficiently. The Group will invest more resources in the construction of
key branch pipelines to facilitate market development, enhance the market
competitiveness of CNG and LNG terminals, promote the strategic layout
plan of distributed energy, maintain a stable development of oil exploitation,
and optimise product offerings. Secondly, the Group will innovate its
management system to improve the efficiency of internal control. The Group
will continuously strengthen “foundation construction, basic work and basic
skills”, streamline the management system and its procedures, enhance
its management of budgets, investments, projects and materials, optimise
information management, and adopt an innovative operational model to
respond to market changes and improve risk management and compliance
management. Thirdly, overall, the Group will optimise performance appraisal
and strengthen the competency of its workforce. The Group will establish a
value-oriented talent strategy, strengthen performance appraisals, establish
shared entrepreneurship mechanisms to strengthen team-building.

Looking ahead, opportunities come along with challenges. The Group will
move forward under its mission of “creating value for customers, creating

career development for employees, and creating returns for shareholders”
and strive to build the Group into an influential clean energy company.

Xu Tie-liang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group and its notes and other
sections in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group recorded sales of natural gas of 3.309 billion cubic meters for
the year of 2017, representing an increase of 20% as compared to 2.769
billion cubic meters in 2016. The Group is benefiting from its considerable
growth in sales and transmission volume of natural gas, and a total revenue
of HK$7,651 million was recorded for the year, representing an increase
of 19% as compared to HK$6,446 million in 2016. Gross profit amounted
to HK$1,216 million (2016: HK$1,128 million), representing an increase of
8% from last year. The Group's profit before taxation is HK$811 million,
representing a decrease of 4% as compared to HK$842 million in 2016.
The net profit of owners of the Company is HK$250 million (2016: HK$312
million), representing a decrease of 20%. After excluding the impact of one-
off items (other gains, net and reversal of impairment losses on oil and gas
properties under property, plant & equipment), the Group’s recurring profit
before taxation increased by 20% to HK$784 million (2016: HK$652 million).
The recurring profit after taxation attributable to owners of the Company
increased by 13%, from HK$199 million in 2016 to HK$225 million.

The Group’s principal activities are divided into three segments.

The Group’s natural gas sales volume increased by 20% to 3,309
million cubic meters in 2017, contributed the most to the Group’s
total revenue. Sales and distribution of natural gas continued to be
the Group'’s principal source of revenue and constituted 89% of the
total revenue in 2017 (2016: 84%). Revenue related to this segment
showed a significant increase of 25% to HK$6,774 million (2016:
HK$5,424 million) and segment results increased by 29% to HK$664
million (2016: HK$513 million), whereas segment profit ratio showed
an increase to 10% (2016: 9%).

As a natural gas distributor, the Group placed tremendous emphasis
on the sales of natural gas. Our natural gas sales volume increased
significantly for the past few years. However, revenue on gas pipeline
connection only constituted less than 7% of our total revenue in 2017
and amounted to HK$525 million (2016: 721 million).
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Revenue related to exploitation and production amounted to HK$353
million (2016: HK$301 million), with a growth of 17%. Segment profit
ratio reached 22% in 2017 from last year's 10%. Crude oil prices
recovered in 2017, with West Texas Intermediate (“WTI") averaging
US$50.93 per barrel as compared to US$43.47 per barrel in 2016.
The Group realised crude oil price of CAD60.26 per barrel in 2017 as
compared to CAD49.98 per barrel in 2016 with an increase of 21%.

The Group’s sales and distribution costs decreased by 24% from HK$67
million in 2016 to HK$51 million in 2017; administrative expenses increased
by 2% from HK$302 million in 2016 to HK$307 million in 2017. Both costs
together only represented less than 5% of total revenue in 2017, whereas
this was 6% in 2016.

Finance costs were HK$204 million (2016: HK$202 million), which was
relatively stable as compared to the Group'’s total debt in 2017 and 2016.

It is the Group's policy to adopt conservative financial strategies by using
the cash flow generated from operations as the principal source of fund
to finance its capital expenditures. As at 31 December 2017, the Group's
total indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior
notes) was HK$5,719 million (2016: HK$5,367 million). Total available credit
facility amounted to HK$5,081 million as of 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$4,661 million) with an utilisation rate of 13% (2016: 6%).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and time
deposits with maturity over three months of approximately HK$2,339 million
(2016: HK$1,859 million). Total assets increased by 14% to HK$15,547
million (2016: HK$13,604 million), among which current assets were
HK$4,235 million (2016: HK$3,620 million). Total liabilities of the Group
were HK$9,341 million (2016: HK$8,353 million), and among which current
liabilities were HK$3,920 million (2016: HK$2,997 million). The Group’s
debt-to-asset ratio, measured on the basis of total indebtedness divided by
total assets, was 37% (2016: 39%). The current ratio (current assets divided
by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.08 times (2016: 1.21 times).
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The Group’s financial and liquidity ratios remained stable, and hence the
Group is well prepared for its development in the future.

At the end of 2017, the Group employed a total of 3,600 (2016: 3,515)
full-time employees, most of whom were stationed in the PRC. Total staff
cost for the year amounted to HK$333 million (2016: HK$310 million). The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of
the employees consist of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

No assets of the Group have been pledged for the outstanding borrowings
as at 31 December 2017.

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2017.

The group is responsible for the financial risk management, and its treasury
function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of the major objectives of the
Group's treasury policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuation in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the Group’s policy not to
engage in speculative activities.

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group’s certain
bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
Stated dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior notes are
denominated in Renminbi, United Stated dollars and Canadian dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material exposures
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend of
foreign currencies, consider adopting a significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.
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(continued) (#&)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no litigation.

As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$58,256,838 divided into 5,825,683,834 shares with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

The Board resolved to propose to the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, which is to be held
on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 (“2018 AGM"), a distribution of HK cent 0.35
(2016: HK cent 0.50) per share out of the contributed surplus account of
the Company to be paid on Friday, 6 July 2018 to those shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
20 June 2018. The proposed distribution will amount to approximately
HK$20,390,000 (2016: HK$ 29,128,000).
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Mr. Xu Tie-liang, aged 54, was appointed as an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 30 August 2006. He was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 4 November
2009. Mr. Xu is the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company (the “CG Committee”), the chairman of China City Natural
Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd and Baccalieu Energy Inc. and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu is also a Honorary Life Chairman
of Cross-Strait Peaceful Development Federation; vice chairman of Hong
Kong Energy and Minerals United Associations; Honorary Chairman of The
Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association (Shandong). Mr. Xu graduated
from Xi‘an Shiyou University (Fa% A5 AE) and University of International
Business and Economics (HFMEEE S AE), he is a certified public
accountant and lawyer. Mr. Xu has 29 years' experience in management,
investments, legal and finance.

Mr. Zhu Yuan, aged 65, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 10 September 2010. He was appointed as the senior vice
president of the Company on 4 November 2009. Mr. Zhu is a member of
the CG Committee. He graduated from China University of Mining And
Technology and is a certified senior accountant. He is engaged in oil and gas
industries for over 40 years, and has deep research and extensive experience
in investment and operation of the usage of natural gas, city gas and
liquefied natural gas projects.

Ms. Guan Yijun, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 10 September 2010. She was appointed as the vice president
of the Company on 1 September 2006. Ms. Guan is a member of the CG
Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She
graduated from Changchun Normal University in the early years and studied
at the Advanced Business Administration of Peking University. She has
extensive business operation management experiences for over 20 years.
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Mr. Cheung Shing, aged 65, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 13 January 2006. Mr. Cheung is a member of each of the CG
Committee, the Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”). He worked in China Petroleum Qilu Petrochemical Refinery (1
Bl A s &AL BOmE), China Petroleum Shengli Oilfield (AR B85 5 B F1J
M), China Petroleum Zhongyuan Oilfield (fFEA3#A EMA) and has ever
been a management economist of China National Petroleum Corporation
(FFRARKRATERENQT) ("CNPC”) during the period between 1969 and
1993. He was the chairman of each of Wah Chung (HK) Limited ZEfF (&
#) AIR/AT), Henan Shenghua Petrochemical Co., Ltd. (Am&EHRERA
JH{E THPBRAR]) and Liaoning Xinmin Petroleum Company Limited during
the period between 1993 and 2004. He is also currently a visiting lecturer of
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, the vice president of Hong Kong
General Association of International Investment (&/8BIE& &7 €) and
the vice president of China Petroleum Business Council (ffB/AHmEEIES
&

)

(52)
= /).

Mr. Li Yunlong, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 18 April 2008. He is the chairman of each of
the Audit Committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li graduated from the Accounting School of Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law (R 8 & BUE K2 & 5T 226t) with a Bachelor Degree in
Economics. Mr. Li is a registered certified public accountant in the PRC and
possesses the qualification of PRC senior auditor. Mr. Li had been working
at the National Audit Office of the PRC for over 17 years in various audit
departments, and he is currently a partner of Hua Wen CPA Ltd GEE € 5TRT
LT in the PRC. He was employed as senior researcher (professor grade)
by The Institute of Modern Communication Research, Shandong University
last year. He is also a national financial expert of The Ministry of Science and
Technology of the PRC. He is the financial consultant of various companies
in the PRC. He has extensive experience in legal, accounting, auditing and
finance aspects.
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Mr. Wang Guangtian, aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 4 November 2009. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He holds a master’s
degree in world economics from the Hebei University and has over 33 years
of experience in financial and administrative management. He is currently
the chairman of Gainful Investment Corporation and Guofu (Hong Kong)
Holdings Limited. He was an independent non-executive director of ENN
Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from
December 2000 to May 2015. He was appointed as the chairman of Hebei
Overseas Listed Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd in June 2015.

Mr. Yang lJie, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 May 2017. He is a member of the Audit Committee. Mr.
Yang holds a bachelor degree at University of International Business
Economics. Mr. Yang is currently serving as executive director and chief
executive officer of MEC Advisory Limited which is the sole advisor of Can-
China Global Resource Fund, and executive director of EMC Financial
Limited, the general partner of Can-China Global Resource Fund. Mr. Yang
has more than 20 years of experience in mining investment and capital
operation. He served as a board member of several Canadian listed mining
companies and senior adviser of several Chinese companies for their
overseas investment. He has participated in corporate financing, mergers
and acquisitions for numerous Canadian mining companies. Mr. Yang served
as senior vice president in Hunter Dickinson Inc. and Partner and director
in Continental Mineral Corp. Mr. Yang is currently a director of Highbury
Project Inc., a company listed in Canada.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in investments in natural gas and energy related
businesses.

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the state of
affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 64 to 195.

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 and a discussion on the Group's future business development, and also
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December 2017 using
the key financial performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 20.
No important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the
year under review.

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group's businesses. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those as shown below which are not known to
the Group or may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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The Group is principally engaged in distribution of natural gas in the PRC.
The city-gate price of natural gas is determined with reference to the
wellhead price and transmission charges. In China, wellhead prices for
residential and fertilizer users are fixed, while wellhead prices for industrial
and commercial users may vary from the benchmark price set by the PRC
National Development and Reform Commission. Piped gas end-user tariffs
are determined by local pricing bureaus. There may be risks that the Group
is unable to obtain approval for passing through any increase in natural gas
price which would deteriorate the Group's profit.

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and its major
transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of its assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi and Canadian dollars.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any dividends
it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted into foreign
exchange. The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to
manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The Group does not
consider that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB.

Liquidity risk is the potential risk that the Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional
and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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Both the government and the public continue to pay utmost attention
to environmental issues, despite the fact that certain expensive and
environment friendly measures were planned and implementation will soon
be taken place. Stricter requirements may be put into practice to address
these issues.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2017 containing the information required under
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website within three months after the publication of the Company’s 2017
annual report.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company is
subject to The Bermuda Act. In addition, the Company is registered as a non-
Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Company (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and therefore is subject to the
relevant provisions under the Companies Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the Company
is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules, including the disclosure
requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(the”SFO"), the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in
shares and short positions and a register of directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside
information.

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are
concerned, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
its businesses and operations.

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.
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The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long
term goals. Accordingly, the management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when
appropriate. During the year under review, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners or bank
enterprises.

The Board resolved to recommend to the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 (“2018 AGM"), the distribution of HK cent
0.35 (2016: HK cent 0.50) per share out of the contributed surplus of the
Company to be paid on Friday, 6 July 2018 to those shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
20 June 2018. The proposed distribution will amount to approximately
HK$20,390,000 (2016: HK$29,128,000).

For determining the identity of the shareholders to attend and vote at the
2018 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 6 June 2018 to Tuesday, 12 June 2018 (both days inclusive)
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the 2018 AGM, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 5 June 2018.

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to the proposed
distribution, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 20 June 2018 to Thursday, 21 June 2018 (both days inclusive)
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed distribution, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
19 June 2018.

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 196. This
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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An analysis of the Group's revenue and results by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2016: Nil).

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not issue any share during the year ended 31 December
2017.

In April 2017, the Company issued US$350 million senior notes (the
“Notes”) bearing an interest rate of 4.625% per annum due 2022. The
Company intended to use the net proceeds from the issue of the Notes to
repay certain existing indebtedness including the 2013 senior notes and for
general corporate purpose. Details are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save for the share option scheme and the restricted share award scheme of
the Group in this Report of the Directors and as set out in note 32(b) and
32(c) to the consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group during the year or subsisting at
the end of the year.
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The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option
Scheme”) on 31 January 2002 and terminated the same at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 23 November 2011 (“SGM"),
details of the Old Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 23 November 2011 at the SGM, pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer options to any eligible
participant including, but not limited to, any person being an employee,
executive directors or non-executive directors of the Group or any invested
entity (including independent non-executive directors of the Group or any
invested entity) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers who will provide
or have provided services to the Group or any invested entity. Details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of movements in the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

Name or category Granted during
of participants Exercise price Date of grant Exercisable period the year
SRENLARA fie® RHAH 8 ERRA
(HK9)
(E7)
Employees B8 0.46 22012016 2210112018 to 21/01/2026 -
Total 5f -
Note:

These share options are exerciseable in the following manner:

(i) 30% of the share options shall become exercisable on 22 January 2018;

(ii) 30% of the share options shall become exercisable on 22 January 2019; and

(iii)

40% of the share options shall become exercisable on 22 January 2020.
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These share options were granted on 22 January 2016, the closing price of
the shares on 21 January 2016, being the date immediately before the date
of grant, was HK$0.43.

On 4 November 2011, the Board adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”) as an incentive to recognise the
contributions by employees and to give incentives in order to retain them for
their continuing operation and development and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group, details of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme are set out in note 32(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-Laws") or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

During the year, the Company, through the trustee of the Restricted Share
Award Scheme, purchased from the market 181,260,000 shares for the
purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme. Save as aforesaid, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

As at 31 December 2017, the amount standing to the credit of the
Company’s share premium account in the amount of HK$24,578,000 may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares, and the Company’s
contributed surplus account in the amount of HK$1,491,200,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances.
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The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases i

— the largest supplier —RAHER

— five largest suppliers combined — AR EEEET
Turnover e

— the largest customer —BRAEF

— five largest customers combined —hAREFERT

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules or any shareholders (who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests in
the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
ZHU Yuan

GUAN Yijun

CHEUNG Shing

LI Yunlong

WANG Guangtian

SHI Xunzhi (retired on 18 May 2017)
YANG Jie (appointed on 18 May 2017)

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Zhu Yuan, Ms.
Guan Yijun and Mr. Cheung Shing shall retire from office as Directors by
rotation at the 2018 AGM. Ms. Guan Yijun, being eligible, offers herself for
re-election. Mr. Zhu Yuan and Mr. Cheung Shing confirmed that they will
not offer themselves for re-election at the 2018 AGM as they would like to
spend time pursuing their own business.
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In accordance with Bye-law 86(2), Mr. Yang Jie, being Director appointed
after the last annual general meeting of the Company, shall retire and, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election at the 2018 AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME",
"RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME” and “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report and in notes 32(b) and 32(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang entered into a service contract with the Company on 10
April 2014 for a term of three years commencing from 10 April 2014. Upon
the expiry of the term of the service contract, Mr. Xu and the Company
entered into a renewed service contract on 10 April 2017 for a further term
of three years commencing from 10 April 2017.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2018
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Group
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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At 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of SFO), which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

(the “Model Code"), are set out below:

Name of Director

]

Xu Tie-liang
R

Zhu Yuan

KE

Cheung Shing
5RAX

Guan Yijun

B

Capacity
L4

Interest in controlled corporations

R EE 2 s

Beneficial owner

EEHAA

Beneficial owner

afBA

i
E/ ‘

Interest of spouse

iRt

Interest of controlled corporation

REHEE < s

Long position/
short position

HE/ KR

Long position

e

Long position

e

Long position

e

Long position

e

Long position
e

[
Al

TT:IAL% %ZTT+
AR R 2 SOk BT ¢

Number of
ordinary
Notes shares held

Mzt BEEERYE

1,2 1,427,554,130
3 2,750,000

1,518,000
1 1,427,554,130
2 -

uﬂ%&gﬂﬁ
ZREmSOAR)

Approximate
percentage of the
Company's issued

share capital

N
BRITRE
BHEAL

24.50%

0.05%

0.03%

24.50%
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Amount of
debentures held

FrisEs S8

US$2,000,000
2,000,000%7¢

US$2,000,000
2,000,000%7T

20175 %% 33



34

(continued) (#&)

Notes:

1. 353,120,130 ordinary shares and 1,074,434,000 ordinary shares of the
Company (“Shares”) are held through Sino Advance Holdings Limited
(“Sino Advance”) and Sino Vantage Management Limited (“Sino Vantage”)
respectively, both of which were incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and are wholly-owned by Sino Best International Group Limited
(“Sino Best”) (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability) which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr
Xu"). Therefore, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in 1,427,554,130 Shares
pursuant to the SFO. Ms. Guan Yijun (“Ms. Guan”) is the spouse of Mr. Xu,
therefore, Ms. Guan is also deemed to be interested in 1,427,554,130 Shares
pursuant to the SFO.

2. An amount of US$2,000,000 of the US$350,000,000 4.625% senior notes of
the Company due 2022 held through Moral High Limited which is owned by
Mr. Xu and Ms. Guan 50% each.

3. These 2,750,000 shares include (1) 2,350,000 ordinary shares of the Company
held by Mr. Zhu Yuan; and (2) 400,000 restricted shares granted to Mr. Zhu
Yuan pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme adopted by the Board on
4 November 2011.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company which were recorded on the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2017.

At 31 December 2017, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that other
than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors and chief
executives, the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant
interests in the issued share capital of the Company:
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Name of Long position/
shareholder Capacity short position
BRHE B8 5O BR KR
Sino Advance Beneficial owner Long position

EREEA e
Sino Vantage Beneficial owner Long position

EmfiBA uHE
Sino Best Interest in controlled corporations Long position
2B REHDEE 2 s e
Note:

Sino Advance and Sino Vantage are wholly-owned by Sino Best which in turn is wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang. Hence, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested
in 353,120,130 ordinary shares and 1,074,434,000 ordinary shares of the Company
through Sino Advance and Sino Vantage respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as having
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2017.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. After specific enquiries
were made to all Directors, the Company confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board
of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with
section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

The following continuing connected transaction constitutes an exempt
continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

The Trustee (Note) was appointed by the Company as trustee for the
administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme adopted by the Board
on 4 November 2011. Service fee will be paid by the Company to the Trustee
according to the share award trust deed entered into between the Company
and the Trustee on 4 November 2011. The payment of the service fees to the
Trustee by the Company constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company, but is exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)
of the Listing Rules.

HK$200,000 was paid/payable to the Trustee for the financial year ended 31
December 2017.

Note:

Best Thinker Limited (the “Trustee”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, an
executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is
regarded as a connected person of the Company.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this report.
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A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 38 to 54 of the annual report.

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, and
to review the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang
Jie. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2018 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Oil And Gas Group Limited
Xu Tie-liang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure
in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company was in compliance
with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the
deviations as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. Mr. Xu Tie-
liang is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code provides that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term,
but they are subject to retirement from office by rotation at least once every
three years in accordance with the Bye-Laws.
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Code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code requires that the Company should
have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms
and conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors (except for Mr. Xu Tie-liang). However,
the Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to the guidelines
set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry
and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent Non-executive
Directors” (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
in performing their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the
Directors are required to comply with the requirements under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company'’s business and governance policies.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met the relevant code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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(continued) (#&)

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHU Yuan

Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. CHEUNG Shing

Mr. LI Yunlong
Mr. WANG Guangtian
Mr. YANG lJie

Save for Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. Such balanced Board composition is formed to
ensure strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of the
Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 21 to 23
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group’s financial performance and management. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of
operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and
the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
rules and regulations.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and

provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31
December 2017 to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31
December 2017 is set out below:

Name of Director

BEEpE

Mr. XU Tie-liang FTERR A&
Mr. ZHU Yuan K EBREHE
Ms. GUAN Yijun RSB+
Mr. CHEUNG Shing sk RKSEAE
Mr. LI Yunlong FEERE
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREASLE
Mr. YANG Jie s HEE

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer,
and Mr. Xu Tie-liang currently performs these two roles. The Board believes
that by taking the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person, it has the benefit of maintaining a consistent leadership
and enables a more effective and efficient overall strategic planning within
the Group. The Board believes that the present arrangement will not impair
its balance of power and authority, and this is ensured by current Board
members, which comprise experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors.

The three independent non-executive Directors are high caliber individuals,
with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting,
finance and petroleum. With their accumulated experience gained from
various sectors, they can provide strong support towards the Board's
effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities. Each independent non-
executive Director has given an annual confirmation of his independence
to the Company, and the Company considered that each of them is
independent based on the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are not appointed
for specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Bye-Laws.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 26 August 2013 (the
"Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve its diversity. The Company
recognises that increasing diversity at Board level will support the attainment
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including, but not limited, to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own
business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegates certain duties to the Nomination Committee under the
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the necessity to
set measurable objectives for the implementation of the Policy from time to
time, to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards these
objectives are achievable and ascertainable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
its continued effectiveness from time to time.

The Board has four scheduled meetings held quarterly each year, and
additional meetings will take place as and when required. These Board
meetings are planned in advance. During the regular meeting, the Board
examines the Company’s operation and financial performance, reviews and
approves its annual and interim results.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board held 8 meetings. All
Directors were given opportunities to include any matters in the agenda
for the regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in the Board
meetings.
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Name of Director

(continued) (#)

Number of attendance

BEEHR HESERE
Mr. XU Tie-liang AR oA 8/8
Mr. ZHU Yuan K EEAE 8/8
Ms. GUAN Yijun MAsEL L 8/8
Mr. CHEUNG Shing sk pRSEE 8/8
Mr. LI Yunlong FERELAE 8/8
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREAELAE 8/8
Mr. SHI Xunzhi (retired on 18 May 2017) sHlmEE (R=ZF—EFA AT N\BHEE) 6/6
Mr. YANG Jie (appointed on 18 May 2017) 15 #t%4E (RZZE—tFRAT/\BEZT) 2/2

Board minutes are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board
member is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company held 1 general
meeting, being the 2017 AGM, on 18 May 2017.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEME HEEERE
Mr. XU Tie-liang FTERR A& 11
Mr. ZHU Yuan Kk mEHE 1/1
Ms. GUAN Yijun MAsEL L 11
Mr. CHEUNG Shing sk RKSEAE 01
Mr. LI Yunlong FEEEAE 1”1
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREALE 11
Mr. SHI Xunzhi (retired on 18 May 2017) sIlFmEELE (RZFE—EFAATNBRE) 01
Mr. YANG Jie (appointed on 18 May 2017) %5 #t%&4E (WZE—tFRAA+N\BEZF) N/A T3 A3

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, making use of the annual general meetings
or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. Mr. Xu Tie-liang, being the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the CG Committee, Mr. Li Yunlong, being the chairman of
each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, and Mr. Wang
Guangtian, being the chairman of the Nomination Committee, attended the
2017 AGM to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.
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In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board takes into account
the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the natural gas
industry and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference on 15 March 2006 and currently consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Guangtian (as chairman) and Mr. Li
Yunlong, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Cheung Shing. The terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are currently made available on
the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor
the structure, size and diversity of the Board; to provide recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board in order to complement the
Group’s strategy; to identify qualified individuals in becoming members
of the Board; to assess the independence of non-executive Directors; to
review the measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and to provide
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee held
2 meetings. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of non-executive Directors,
considered and provided recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of Directors and the proposed appointment of Director.

Name of member

RE®E

Mr. WANG Guangtian FEHEE
Mr. LI Yunlong FEELAE
Mr. CHEUNG Shing ik pRAEAE
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference on 13 January 2006 and currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman) and Mr. Wang
Guangtian, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Cheung Shing.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to provide
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy, the
remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating the
remuneration policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings. The Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the
Directors, senior management, and the proposed remuneration of the newly
appointed Director.

Name of member

REHE

Mr. LI Yunlong FERESLAE
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREASLE
Mr. CHEUNG Shing sk RKSEAE

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 November
20711. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards, for
their contributions to the Group. The Board has also adopted the Restricted
Share Award Scheme on 4 November 2011 as an incentive to recognise the
employees’ contributions, in order to retain them for the Group’s continuing
operation and development, and to attract suitable personnel for its further
development.

Details of the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Award Scheme
are set out in notes 32(b) and (c) to the consolidated financial statements.
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The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will depend
on their respective contractual terms under the employment agreements, if
any, and is determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group and the
prevailing market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in
notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any area
of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and
annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices,
but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual
reports.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings.

Name of member

(continued) (#)

TLFT-A=S+—ALEE BEE

BRT2RNEH -

Number of attendance

REEE HEEERE
Mr. LI Yunlong FEEEAE 2/2
Mr. WANG Guangtian FRMESLE 2/2
Mr. SHI Xunzhi (retired on 18 May 2017) sallEgkE (RZE—EFRATNRRME) 11
Mr. YANG Jie (appointed on 18 May 2017) 15 @4 (RZE—tFRHA T+ N\BEZF) 11

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee reviewed
the annual and interim results of the Group, and were in the opinion that
the preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules.

The Company established the CG Committee, with written terms of
reference, on 20 March 2012. The CG Committee comprises four executive
Directors, namely Mr. Xu Tie-liang (as chairman), Mr. Zhu Yuan, Ms. Guan
Yijun and Mr. Cheung Shing, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
Ms. Law Yin Shan, Jenny and the Company Secretary of the Company, Ms.
Chan Yuen Ying, Stella.

Terms of reference of the CG Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; to comply
with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make
recommendations to the Board; to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director; to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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(continued) (#&)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the CG Committee HE-_ZT—+F+_A=+—HLHERFE @
held 1 meeting. The CG Committee reviewed the training and continuous XERLEERTIREH CEBERZEER
professional development of Directors and senior management; and also SHEERSRAEEENEIIMBEERERE N
reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code during the year B ARREBE_T—tF+_A=+—HIF
ended 31 December 2017, EESFREERTANER
Name of member Number of attendance
MEHE HEERRE
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR A& 11
Mr. ZHU Yuan K REE 11
Ms. GUAN Yijun WHELL 1”1
Mr. CHEUNG Shing & AL 11
Ms. LAW Yin Shan, Jenny Fryekiizeenn 1”1
Ms. CHAN Yuen Ying, Stella BRI 22+ 11
During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company's auditor is REFER - B BRI BeE a0
set out below:— T
Services rendered Fee paid/payable
FriR AR 75 BftEAER
HK$'000
FHT
Audit services ENZ AR 2,300
Non-audit services: FEBEZIRTE -
2,300
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The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying, Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary of the Company.

Ms. Law Yin Shan, Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is
the primary point of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.
According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting. The Board may
call special general meetings whenever it thinks fit.

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act of Bermuda. The procedures that shareholders can use to convene a
special general meeting are set out in the document entitled “Procedures
for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is
currently available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquires to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a
proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@  any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
notice of the proposed resolution or circulating any necessary statement, at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:—

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks
before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.
The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the
requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the
necessary procedures.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at
the general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in
good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural
or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the
resolutions to be set out in the notice of 2018 AGM will be voted by poll.
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The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and reasonable disclosure of information to its shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in the
following manner:

o Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on
the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules; and

o The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the CG
Committee, together with the chairman of each of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, attended
the 2017 AGM to answer questions of the meeting and collect views of
shareholders.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group, its financial performance
and cash flows for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and prepared the
accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group, to prevent and detect fraud, as well as
other irregularities.

The Directors, after appropriate enquiries were made, considered that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control system. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk
management and internal control system are described in the sections below:

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2017, no significant risk was
identified.

The Company has an internal control system in place which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out the internal control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Activities established by policies and procedures to

help ensure that management directives are carried out, objectives are
achieved, and risks are mitigated.
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o Information and Communication: To provide the Group’s internal and
external communication, together with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of the internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of
its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside
information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been
taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of
the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2017, no significant
control deficiency was identified.

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control system
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually, and afterwards the results are reported to the Board via
Audit Committee.
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The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and ensuring review of the system’s effectiveness is conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment (i) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control system.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
system were effective and adequate. Such system, however, is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

There was no change in the Company'’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2017.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of China Oil And Gas Group Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to
195, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017,

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessments of loan receivable from and interest in an
associate

e Impairment assessment of goodwill
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of loan
receivable from and interest in
an associate

Refer to note 5(a) critical accounting
estimates and judgements and
note 20 and 23(c) to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had loan receivable
from an associate of approximately
HK$637,251,000 and interest in
this associate of approximately
HK$257,250,000 as at 31 December
2017.

Management concluded that no
provision was required as the
associate has the ability to repay the
loan and the recoverable amount of
the associate’s business exceeded its
carrying value.

Management assessed the
recoverability of interest in the
associate based on the recoverable
amount of the associate’s business
valuation applying the fair value less
costs of disposal method. The key
underlying assumptions were set out
in notes 5(a) and 20 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment
assessment of interest in this
associate included the evaluation
of the appropriateness of valuation
methodology and reasonableness
of the key assumptions used with
assistance of our internal expert.

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment
assessment of loan receivable from
the associate included reviewing
the financial statements, business
plan and forecast of the associate
to identify whether there are
indications the associate cannot
repay its debt, as and when they fall
due.

We evaluated management’s
estimated commodity price
growth rate by challenging
management’s rationale to support
their projections. We researched
the most up-to-date commodity
price and performed independent
market research on the commodity
price growth that was in line with
management’s forecasts.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of loan
receivable from and interest in
an associate (continued)

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the loan receivable
from and interest in this associate.
Moreover, significant judgements
and estimates were involved in
estimating the recoverable amount
of the interest in the associate and
the loan receivable.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

We compared the future production
profile against the reserve estimation
report conducted by management’s
expert and evaluated the
competence, capacity and objectivity
of the expert.

We evaluated the reasonableness
of the discount rate applied by
benchmarking management’s
assumptions with those applied by
comparable companies and industry
forecasts.

We physically inspected the site and
discussed with local management
to understand the current status of
operation.

We performed sensitivity analysis in
consideration of the potential impact
of reasonably possible downside
changes in these key assumptions.

We found the management’s
judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessments of
loan receivable from and interest in
an associate were supported by the
available evidence.

Annual Report 2017

BRERpARE

R REEER A RRER (&)
(REFRZELMA L HERA])

HESEE

ER—EHERAE
HRREZBE L AR
s R E TG ()

AT A Yz B A
AERERZBER
AEANESEEM
BE LR - BN
ESDiNY R NETE XN
FEWE R A i @ &
BETHFAIREKR
HEf R fh 5T

BMNF N EE
E g

BASARREERR
HEREIERETH
HELERSETY
- Y FEERNE
FBOARERIE -

BABEREENRR
I N
RERITERBET
L BB AR A
MR KR RIEME
1TRkE -

HMPEMBERRSL
B B IR A R
VAT RS A2 EAOR o

ZRIZEHEERBR
AREETTARE T 178
W EBEEZZ &M
EITTBREDN -

HFEE EEER
EY —EBERRE
b OSYINE R RNl
HE 25 R (B 7Y 17 B A
BB R RRERE
EBSH ©



_
pwc

To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to note 5(b) critical accounting
estimates and judgements and note
19 to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

The Group carried goodwill of
approximately HK$997,499,000
as at 31 December 2017, which
was allocated to a group of cash
generating units (“CGUs"”) relating
to the sales and distribution of
natural gas and other related
products business (“Natural Gas
Business”) CGUs.

Management estimated the
recoverable amount of the Natural
Gas Business CGUs based on value-
in-use calculations that applied the
key assumptions and inputs set out
in notes 5(b) and 19 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
Based on value-in-use calculations,
management has concluded there
was no impairment of the goodwill
as at 31 December 2017.

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the goodwill balance
and the significant judgements made
by management in estimating the
recoverable amount of the goodwill.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to testing
management’s goodwill impairment
assessment of the Natural Gas
Business CGUs included the
evaluation of the appropriateness
of valuation methodology and
reasonableness of the key
assumptions used with assistance of
our valuation experts.

We challenged management on the
estimated growth rate, expected
changes to selling prices and direct
costs assumptions and compared
cash flows generated during the year
ended 31 December 2017 with prior
years’ performance. We evaluated
the reasonableness of the discount
rate applied by benchmarking
management’s assumptions with
those applied by comparable
companies and industry forecasts.
Furthermore, we evaluated the
terminal growth rate with reference
to the long term inflation rate.

We found the management’s
judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment of
goodwill were supported by the
available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Annual Report 2017

B R K1

P aRREEERARAKRRK (&)
(REFRZELMA L HERA])

ERB(ERBBRTENVETEINBRES - K
PERTERAE - R TERREEE - &
I

o HAMFEARKFRBERMERGER
BHREAFEEANERBANRRE - &5t R
MITETIEFF AR G LK - JAREER
FRMBEENESRE FREMERY
At - MRMFARESRER BE &
BER  ERERL - EBERAIESZ
£ FUbREEERARFEMERNEKNE
AR BRI B [ B = 1A R BB B 3R IR 85 AR 1T 28 B
MBS ARR A LR o

o THWREEHBAOANIES  ARFHEE
MERERF - BEEMLIE SEENRE
ZHRINARMEERER

o FHEEEMRASFTEENREEREN
SEMAFTMARREN SR -

s HEFRARBBAKLSHEMMNREILEE
HaEw o RIBMEMNEFTRE  BELE
BHFAERFEELBENEERNERTEE
tE M EERY BEERENFKELE
RNELERRE MREMAR/EFEE
RTHEEN - MAVEEZBERETIE
FEREIRFRAMBERRDAOEERE
Bo-REBHENOEKESE  RIHRMEE %
RIFBREZR - HPINERISERNZE
B & B LTSV ERETRE - A > R
REBERBERAATEEHR BEEETREHE

. FEGAMBBEMEBIIBSR - LHE

MRS BIEEE UARGAMKHRERRE
EHRE R HFEIE o



_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE_T—tHF+-_A=+—HLLFE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
bz FET FAT
Revenue = 6 7,651,280 6,446,452
Cost of sales SHEMKR (6.435,083) (5,318,367)
Gross profit EF 1,216,197 1,128,085
Other income EAlg A 7 30,262 26,735
Other gains, net Hpurzs - EEE 8 22,901 137,780
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (50,507) (66,537)
Administrative expenses THAZ (307,497) (301,650)
Reversal of impairment losses on oil Y - BB REEE T
and gas properties under property, MR A ER AR R
plant and equipment 16 4,402 52,003
Operating profit g A 9 915,758 976,416
Finance income BATGULA 10 101,741 83,310
Finance costs M5 E 10 (203,677) (201,946)
Share of losses of investments accounted DhEREREARN
for using the equity method KEEE 20 (2,356) (15,651)
Profit before taxation R A& A 811,466 842,129
Taxation A 13 (188,527) (184,461)
Profit for the year FRxmN 622,939 657,668
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hiz2mEEA(BiE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A ZE#7 B E 1Rz HE H
Release of exchange reserve upon T B A RIS 3R
disposal of a subsidiary P& W - 4,456
Currency translation differences BEBBmEES 482,811 (401,693)
Change in value of available-for-sale AN EN B EEBEE S
financial assets 40,296 1,820
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FAEMPEBA(FE)
for the year, net of tax wmeg=E 523,107 (395,417)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREMEB AL 1,146,046 262,251
Profit attributable to: FEAEEF -
Owners of the Company UNEIE 2SN 250,467 311,791
Non-controlling interests IR A 372,472 345,877
622,939 657,668
Total comprehensive income FAEMEEBRALE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company NCIEZ DN 642,756 80,003
Non-controlling interests eI AR A 503,290 182,248
1,146,046 262,251
Earnings per share attributable to NEER ANFARIEZIRAT
owners of the Company for the year 15
— Basic (HK cents) — ER B 4.865 5.981
— Diluted (HK cents) —#58 (Bl 4.858 5.963
The notes on pages 72 to 195 are an integral part of these consolidated $£72%F 1958 BEM M ARG S BB HRE 2 48
financial statements. KEED o
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As at 31 December 2017
W_ZE—tF+=-_A=+—H

2017 2016
—2—tF —E—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PiEE FExT FAT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 16 7,725,219 6,624,992
Exploration and evaluation assets R R EE 17 215,189 213,548
Land use rights T A4 18 456,458 393,344
Intangible assets BEEE 19 1,035,324 1,002,291
Investments accounted for using FREREARZIRE
the equity method 20 321,167 300,065
Available-for-sale financial assets AR EBEE 21 596,360 638,262
Other non-current assets Hib3Eme&E 23 956,763 792,258
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 30 4,796 19,510
11,311,276 9,984,270
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 244,438 190,573
Deposits, trade and other receivables e - BH5REMEKEIE 23 1,596,734 1,516,892
Financial assets at fair value through AT ELERARY
profit or loss MIEEE 24 48,842 47,448
Current tax recoverable & Bf ] U B R T8 6,333 6,003
Time deposits with maturity over FREEA=1EA 8
three months T BATF R 25 48,531 25,170
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEEE 25 2,290,447 1,833,483
4,235,325 3,619,569
Total assets BEE 15,546,601 13,603,839
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMFERFRIE 26 1,431,733 1,327,747
Receipt in advance TEWRIE 27 1,584,003 1,156,195
Short-term borrowings MHEE 28 689,258 360,907
Current tax payable 2R TIA 215,042 152,095
3,920,036 2,996,944
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As at 31 December 2017
R_ZE—tF+=-_B=+—H
(continued) (4&)

2017 2016
—E—+tfF —E—RHF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FaE FET FH&T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Senior notes BEZRE 29 4,970,240 5,006,417
Long-term borrowings RHEEE 28 60,000 =
Deferred tax liabilities RIENIA B E 30 260,359 240,801
Assets retirement obligation B E R 31 130,311 108,723
5,420,910 5,355,941
Total liabilities BEE 9,340,946 8,352,885
Equity L
Equity attributable to owners ATHEEAEEER
of the Company
Share capital (&N 32 58,257 58,257
Reserves & 3,286,289 2,772,174
3,344,546 2,830,431
Non-controlling interests PR i A 2,861,109 2,420,523
Total equity fERBE 6,205,655 5,250,954
Total equity and liabilities EaRkaEHEE 15,546,601 13,603,839

The notes on pages 72 to 195 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 64 to 195 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 27 March 2018 and were signed on its behalf.

Xu Tie-liang
Director

Guan Yijun
Director

(5]6) Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

BHE—-F

Attributable to owners of the Company

—tF+ZA=tT—HIFE

RAEEAEL
Shares
held for
share (Note)  Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share Share award Other  fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium scheme  reserves resre reserve profits Totl  interests equity
Bk WRGHA
e (D) ERRS AR
BE RAEE ARG AUEE e B REEN g% FoRER  EReE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TRt TR TR AR TR TR TR TR TEr TEn
At 1 January 2016 R=ZF-7~E-A-H 58,257 U518 Q75629 153741 (371,122) - 1806239 2777064 2423190 5200254
Profit for the year ERiEd - - - - - -39 39T 35877 657,668
Other comprehensive income(loss): Rt2EHA/(B8):
Release of exchange resenve upon disposal MEE-THBRAR
of a subsiciary (Note 34(b)) EHE R A 340) - - - - 2673 - - 2673 1783 4456
Exchange differences on translating AERNBNELZE
foreign operations - - - - (236281) - - (236281) (165412  (401,693)
Changes in value of avallable-for-sale IR EHEERER
financial assets - - - 1820 - - - 1820 - 1820
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ EA2ERA /(B8 48 - - - 180 (233608) -39 80003 188 262,051
Vesting of shares under share award scheme RERDEE2SERA - - 1798 = = (1,79) = = = =
Shares purchased for share award scheme ERhREHEEERR = - (187) - - - - [3187) - BIgTY)
Value of employee senvices RERKEE - - - - - 5,239 = 5,239 = 5,239
Capital injection by non-controlling interests FoRERTE - - - - - - - S AL AL
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(0) HE— BRI (340) - - - - - - - - (8% 6%
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests RHRE THARER - - - - - - - - (10925 (109,229)
At 31 December 2016 R-8-REtZR=t-A 58,257 45718 (3057060 1,536,561 (604,730) 340 2118030 2830431 2420523 5,250,954
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE_T—tHF+-_A=+—HLLFE

(continued) (#&)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRRARL
Shares
held for
share (Note)  Exchange Share-based Non-
Share Share award Other fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium scheme  reserves reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
Al WA

4 | (W)  EXRE EBpRE
R&  RiEE  FERG  BHER fife Bk RBEA B8 FERER R
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'00

fén TR TR TEm TR TR T T TEm fER

At 1 January 2017 R-E-tE-f-A 58,257 1578 (305,706) 1,536,561 (604,730) M1 2118030 2830431 2420523 5,250,954
Prfitfor theyear R - : - - - - OB B M e
Other comprehensive income; EfE2EUA
Bxchange differences on rangting BREBNSBIEL 2R

foreign operations - - - - 351,993 - - 351993 130818 482,811
Changes invalue o availble-forsle TRILEHEERERY

financial assets - - - 40,2% - - - 40,29 - 40,29
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2EUAEE - - - M m - B0AT 6T 5320 1146046
Vesting of shares under share award scheme RERAEEERRRD - - 91 - - (91) 2 - - -
Shares purchased forshare award scheme BROEEEEERD - - (10425) - - - - (1a250) - (1425)
Value of employee senvices ESRKEE - - - - - 4,74 - 4,744 - 4,704
Captta ijection by non-contrling ineress FRRERTE - - - - - - - - A0 1440
Dividend paid to non-controling interets RS FoaER - - - - - - - - (M (0
Fineldhidend forthe year ended 31 December 2016~ BE=F—7F+=A=1-A

(Note 14) IR (Fist 14) - - - - - - - ()
At 31 December 2017 R-B-tEtZR=1-R 58,257 U518 (408972) 154179 (290.731) 7194 2368497 3344546 2861109 6,205,655
Note: Mz -
As at 31 December 2017, other reserves mainly comprise capital and other reserve R-ZBE—+FE+-_A=+—H HtRERETEBE
amounting to HK$106,279,000 (2016: HK$65,983,000) and contribution surplus BN H L RE#5106,279,0008 TT( = B — N4
amounting to HK$1,441,450,000 (2016: HK$1,470,578,000). 65,983,000/ 7T ) R A B #r1,441,450,0008 T (= F

— 7<% 1,470,578,00087T) °

The notes on pages 72 to 195 are an integral part of these consolidated F72F 1958 2B E RIS g mEk 2 4
financial statements. BXER S
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_ZT—tF+-_A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—T-tf ZTRF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Pirsr FEx TAT
Cash flows from operating activities mEEBRLRE
Profit for the year FRE 622,939 657,668
Adjustments for: U TRBEEL B
Taxation B 188,527 184,461
Finance costs HNHER 203,677 201,946
Finance income BN (101,741) (83,310)
Share of losses of investments accounted AEEREREARNRESE
for using the equity method 2,356 15,651
Equity-settled share-based payments PAER & E AR (D RER AR 4,744 5,239
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 19 2,521 2,685
Depreciation and depletion of property, Mm% - ERRETERERE
plant and equipment 16 428,491 415,992
Amortisation of land use rights T R 18 8,503 8,587
Reversal for impairment losses on oil and gas n%  BEREEETHR
properties under property, plant and BEREBERE
equipment 16 (4,402) (52,003)
Losses on disposals of property, plant HENE - BEREENER
and equipment 1,652 4,698
Losses on exploration and evaluation assets R EEEE - 1,909
Fair value gains on financial assets RATELEE RNITBEARE
at fair value through profit or loss DEEMNE 8 (1,394) (902)
Losses on disposals of financial assets at HERNTELBR AR
fair value through profit or loss NBEEEE 8 - 3
Gains on disposals of available-for-sale HEHLENBEEN
financial assets Wzs 8 (17,748) (1,879)
Gain on disposals of an associate/a subsidiary HE—RBEAR/
—FAf B R R Ak ES 8 (3.759) (124,199)
Gain on bargain purchases HERE RS - (10,803)
Written off of exploration and evaluation assets MR R EEE S 17 2,357 11,745
Provision for assets retirement obligation BERERE 31 7,781 8,844
1,344,504 1,246,332
Changes in working capital: LEESED
Inventories 8 (40,252) (25,787)
Deposits, trade and other receivables e &5 &,HW hed! 65,760 7,641
Trade and other payables m%&ﬁ1 JE R (184,259) 51,307
Receipt in advance YR 304,271 154,780
Cash generated from operations REEERS 1,490,024 1,434,273
Taxation paid BABE (104,190) (144,740)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETBEENRSFE 1,385,834 1,289,533
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BHE_Z—+tF+-_A=1+—HIFE
(continued) (4&)

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—REF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Pirsr THET THET
Cash flows from investing activities REZHRETE
Interest received BMFIE 69,492 46,797
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, BENE BRER&E i
land use rights and prepaid construction costs AL YSSEINFEL wN (944,982) (797,776)
Proceeds from disposal of exploration and HEHR R EEREHREA - 1,023
evaluation assets
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE - BFEK&E
plant and equipment FifS30E 13,035 62,966
Net cash inflow as a result of disposal ALE— e An,/
of an associate/a subsidiary —HNBARRERAFE 34 6,960 232,780
Purchases of other intangible assets and BEAMEVAENRS
prepaid of intangible assets BRAERNFA (7,696) (473)
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets BEUHNENKEE (112,329) (400,797)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HEMHENERBEERETE
financial assets 212,275 121,181
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash W% - kKR 33 - (44,079)
Investments in associates RERE N (19,124)
Loans to third parties ERTFE=R = (19,780)
Repayments from third parties F=HERER 31,452 22,599
Loan to an associate BT —REE AR (119,837) (33,198)
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with FREBE=EANTH
maturity over three months B OEm),/ o (23,361) 190,830
Site restoration expenditure THitRES H (7,507) (8,207)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFARLFE (901,622) (626,134)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEHRETE
Interest paid BEHFIE (262,431) (291,988)
New borrowings raised TEEE 413,862 78,076
Redemption of senior notes BEEEE 29 (2,748,104) =
Repayments of borrowings BRIEE (59,046) (678,791)
Capital injection by non-controlling interests FERERTE 14,400 11,151
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests TR AR T IR 2 (65,663) (109,225)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net FIRERBMEHE
of transaction costs (IR ZHA) 29 2,685,809 =
Dividend paid BERRE (29,128)
Purchases of own shares for share award scheme ARG REEIBERTRG (104,257) (31,875)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEDMAREFE (154,558) (1,022,652)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_ZT—tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(continued) (4)

2017 2016

“E-tF ZTRF

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Pirsr THER THET

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEEREM/ (RD)FHE 329,654 (359,253)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—RzHR&kReEEER 1,833,483 2,303,704

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEHTE 127,310 (110,968)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+--A=+—HzR&ERE

EfEER 25 2,290,447 1,833,483

The notes on pages 72 to 195 are an integral part of these consolidated FT72E195 B 2 BEW T AALRE B SRz 2 48
financial statements. B
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China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is at Suite 2805, 28th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-
257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaging in
investment in energy related business in various regions in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") and West Central Alberta, Canada, including
but not limited to 1) piped city gas business, pipeline design and
construction; 2) transportation, distribution and sales of compressed
natural gas (“CNG"”) and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”); and 3)
development, production and sale of oil and gas and other upstream
energy resources. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively
referred to the “Group”.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of certain available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at
fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 5.
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(i)

Amendments to standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following amendments to

standards which are relevant to the Group’s operations and

are mandatory for the financial year beginning on or after 1

January 2017:

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred
Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in

Other Entities

The adoption of above amendments to standards did
not have any material impacts on the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.
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(continued) (#&)

The following are new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2017 and have not been early

adopted.

HKAS 28

(Amendment)
HKAS 40 (Amendments)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) 22

HK (IFRIC) 23

Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures
Investment Properties

First Time Adoption of HKFRS

Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts
with Customers
Leases

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

Foreign Currency

Transactions and Advance

Consideration
Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Effective for accounting

periods beginning
on or after

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2019

To be determined

1 January 2018

1 January 2019
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HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”

Nature of change

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces
new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

Impact

The Group has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities and is
expecting the following impact from the adoption of the new
standard on 1 January 2018. The financial assets held by the
Group include available-for-sale financial assets for which a fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) election is
available and financial assets at fair value though profit or loss will
continue to be measured on the same basis under HKFRS 9 and
hence there will be no change to the accounting for these assets.

Accordingly, the Group does not expect the new guidance to
affect the classification and measurement of these financial assets.
However, gains or losses realised on the sale of financial assets
at FVOCI will no longer be transferred to profit or loss on sale,
but instead reclassified below the line from the FVOCI reserve
to retained profits. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
HK$40,296,000 of such fair value change was recognised in
FVOCI reserve in relation to the available-for-sale financial assets.
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(continued) (#&)

HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial
liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through
profit or loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities. The
derecognition rules have been transferred from HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been
changed.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses (ECL)
rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under HKAS
39. It applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost, debt
instruments measured at FVOCI, contract assets under HKFRS 15
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, lease receivables, loan
commitments and certain financial guarantee contracts. Based on
the assessments undertaken to date, the Group does not expect
significant increase or decrease in the loss allowance for trade
receivables.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These are expected to
change the nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures about its
financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the
new standard.

Date of adoption by the Group

This standard must be applied for financial years commencing
on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply the new rules
retrospectively from 1 January 2018, with the practical expedients
permitted under the standard. Comparatives for 2017 will not be
restated.
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HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

Nature of change

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has
issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will
replace HKAS 18 which covers contracts for goods and services
and HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts and the related
literature.

The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is
recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a
customer. The standard permits either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach for the adoption.

Impact

The management of the Group has assessed the effects of
applying the new standard on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and does not expect a significant impact on the
recognition of revenue.

Date of adoption by the Group

This standard is mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2018. The Group intends to adopt the standard
using the modified retrospective approach which means that the
cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised in retained
profits as of 1 January 2018 and that comparatives will not be
restated.
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(continued) (#&)

HKFRS 16, “Leases”
Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all
leases being recognised on the statement of financial position, as
the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.
Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group'’s
operating leases. As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$63,485,000. The
Group estimates those related to payments for short-term or low
value leases which will be recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss are insignificant.

The Group has not yet assessed what other adjustments, if any,
are necessary for example because of the change in the definition
of the lease term and the different treatment of variable lease
payments and of extension and termination options. It is therefore
not yet possible to estimate the amount of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities that will have to be recognised on adoption of the
new standard and how this may affect the Group’s profit or loss
and classification of cash flows going forward.
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HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)
Date of adoption by the Group

This standard is mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group does not intend to
adopt the standard before its effective date. The Group intends
to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

Apart from aforementioned HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 16,
the Board of Directors (“Board”) are in the process of assessing
the financial impact of the adoption of the above new standards,
amendments to standard and interpretations. The Board will
adopt the new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations when they become effective.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(i) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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(i)  Consolidation (Continued)

(1) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

(1) Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.
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(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount
of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, a joint venture or a financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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(ii) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of
the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment
in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon
the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for using
equity method in the profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.
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The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined it to
be joint venture. Joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The
Group's investment in joint venture include goodwill identified on
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a
joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint venture
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.
When the Group’s share of losses in joint venture equals or
exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint venture have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the interest in the joint venture is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to share of profit of investment accounted for using
equity method in the profit or loss.
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Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that
makes strategic decisions.

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and
the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated profit or loss within ‘other gains, net'.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-
sale are analysed between translation differences resulting
from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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(iii) Group companies

(iv)

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

— income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year
end closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings, plant
and machinery, oil and gas properties, pipelines and construction
in progress. Accounting policies for oil and gas properties are
set out in Note 3(g). All other property, plant and equipment is
stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the profit or
loss during the year in which they are incurred. Except for oil
and gas properties and construction in progress, depreciation on
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12.5 to 40 years or remaining lease
period of the land where applicable

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years
Pipelines 20 years
Others 3 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement of financial
position. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 3())).
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Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“administrative expenses” in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents pipelines under construction
and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Costs comprise direct and indirect
incremental costs of acquisition or construction. Completed items
are transferred from construction in progress to proper categories
of property, plant and equipment when they are ready for their
intended use.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
drilling of commercially proven development wells, is capitalised
within construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment. When development is completed on a specific field, it
is transferred to oil and gas properties under property, plant and
equipment. No depreciation and depletion is charged during the
development phase.

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation
assets and development expenditures associated with the
production of proved reserves.

Oil and gas properties are depreciated and depleted using
the unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are
based on total proved plus probable reserves, which are oil,
gas and other mineral reserves estimated to be recovered using
current operating methods and taking into account estimated
future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production. Future development costs are estimated taking into
account the level of development required to produce the reserve.
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Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows.

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of accounting.
Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis. Geological,
geophysical costs and pre-licence costs are expensed as incurred.
Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and exploration
and property leasehold acquisition costs, are capitalised within
exploration and evaluation assets until the determination of
reserves is evaluated. If it is determined that commercial discovery
has not been achieved, these costs are charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation
assets are tested for impairment and transferred to construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment. No depreciation
and depletion is charged during the exploration and evaluation
phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment
when reclassified to construction in progress, or whenever
facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the exploration and
evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration
and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and their
value in use.
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(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of businesses represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units (“CGUs"”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment
level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
and more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less cost of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise mainly exclusive rights, club
membership and computer operating system.

Exclusive rights are shown at historical cost. Exclusive
rights have definite useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of exclusive
rights over their estimated useful lives ranging from 30 to 48
years for natural gas supply services.
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(i) Other intangible assets (Continued)

Investment in club membership is shown at historical cost.
Investment in club membership has indefinite useful life and
is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses and is not amortised.

Computer operating system is shown at historical cost.
Computer operating system has definite useful lives and is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of computer operating system over its estimated useful
lives of 5 to 10 years.

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill
or intangible assets not ready to use — are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments to acquire
long-term interest in lessee-occupied properties. Land use
rights relating to buildings of the Group under operating lease
arrangements are stated at cost and are amortised over the period
of the lease on the straight-line basis to the profit or loss.
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Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available for sale. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

(1)

(2)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets if expected to be settled
within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as
non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for the amounts that are settled
or expected to be settled more than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Group's loans and receivables
comprise deposits, trade and other receivables, time
deposits with maturity over three months and cash and
cash equivalents in the statement of financial position.
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(i)

Classification (Continued)
(3) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are
included in non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs
for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the consolidated profit or loss.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently carried at fair value, except for those
investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market, and those fair value cannot
be reliably measured, which are measured at cost. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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(ii)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category
are presented in the profit or loss within “Other gains,
net” in the period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss as part of “other income”
when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised
in equity are included in the profit or loss as “gains or losses
from investment securities”.

Interest on available-for-sale debt securities calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in the profit or
loss as part of “finance income”. Dividends on available-for-
sale equity instruments are recognised in the profit or loss as
part of “other income” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

(ii)
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(i)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is

objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

e  The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the

borrower a concession that the lender would not
otherwise consider;

Annual Report 2017

()

HUHHEA SR EE

SERBHREHRIEREFHE
FERREEAMBEERMBTE
EARNHIRE REEREE
ERAREREREEREE—
RREREMHERHIRME ([E
BEA]  mzxR(E%%) BB
EMEZARZAV B EENR
it 2 B MEBA A 7] S
AR E BERMBEENRY
BRERESRERSE -

MEHERAEEEEATIER
BEHAR—HEBALEREX
FIERR B - B SIERFBHA
BN REBAEREAWE
RFIGETHEMMEER Uk
EAEAEBRIEBET  AEtARR
BeRnEF A2/ - flin
RR S B o B 32 4O AR A A0 A B IR
SH o

SERFEEFEREBETSE
EERNERBRE

o BITARBHBABLEAY
TR EE

o EBRAK  MmBHgiERX
MMBHAE

o EBEERNERRAZHER
HBEMNKESOREERT
BTERAE—RIBERTK
BRANTEENEEEM



Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include (Continued):

o [t becomes probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

e  The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

o Observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets in the
portfolio, including:

(1) adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the portfolio;

(2) national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the
portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit or
loss. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis
of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market
price.
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(ii)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss,
the impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence
that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in the income
statement on equity instruments are not reversed through
the profit or loss.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less all costs to completion and all direct costs
to be incurred in selling and distribution.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sales and
distribution of oil and natural gas and other related products or
gas pipeline construction and connection services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. The Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that trade and other receivables are impaired.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks,
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.
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(continued) (#&)

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has

an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and the costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i)  Sales and distribution of natural gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised when
the gas is used by the customers. Payments received in
advance on pre-paid I/C cards that are related to sales of
natural gas not yet delivered are deferred in the consolidated
statements of financial position. Revenue is recognised when
goods are delivered to the customers.
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(continued) (#&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Gas pipeline construction and connection fee income

Gas pipeline construction and connection fee income is
recognised using the percentage of completion method, but
when the period of construction works is short, the revenue
is recognised when the relevant construction works are
completed and connection services are rendered.

Revenue from exploitation and production of crude oil
and natural gas

The sales of crude oil is recorded when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the product is transferred to
the buyer which is usually when legal title passes to the
external party and this is generally at the time product enters
the pipeline.

Sales of equipment

The equipment sold are mainly the gas meter. Sales of
equipment are recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the equipment sold.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
tenant lease.

Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.
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(i)

Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the
PRC under which the Group and the PRC based employees
are required to make monthly contributions to these plans
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired PRC based employees payable under the plans
described above. Other than the monthly contributions,
the Group has no further obligation for the payment
of retirement and other post retirement benefits of its
employees. The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently administrated
funds managed by the provincial governments.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those qualifying employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, contributions to the
scheme by the Group and the employees are calculated as a
percentage of employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The retirement
benefit scheme costs charged to consolidated profit or
loss represent contributions payable by the Group in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

()

(continued) (#)

BRI A

RIEHE AR AME Z 8 RIS
B KEZTBEREREZ2EHATE
FRETRAER & TREMR
FORRAEFIEHE » Bt - REM
TEEEASARREEHFESRM
B REL A BIEDL #R -

BT AT A GE AR E st Bl e
FBERBRAREKRTEERZ
BRARBHEE - EEKZEEA
RN WEEM S R EE
BAREMEBAKRREN ZEE -
ZEHE CEERERBNER
ZBIERESHA  LHEHE
ZEBEDR -

S E MR RS AR S T BIE
BIEBERMEFEERSHA
FlIMERTESTE ([BESTE )
ZEBEBRAKNEEZEER
BEEREATHARZABSF
gl o RIFEESFEI 2 - &
EREESREZHAIIRES
BHRRAZEDLETE  EEA
BRWA M &S _EFR %30,000 %
T ° RERA B AHKR AR IKE
MBI AR ERIBRE ST
Bz RAMESIMHHZK - &
EEBZEEHR  RA®ES
STEIHRREHNEBENES - 8
BeEEEHEBMMNEEDH
BE ABUEEESER -

2017%%% 103



(continued) (#&)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
payment are recognised when they accrue to the employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service payment as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the statement of financial
position date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of share options or restricted
shares is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options or restricted shares granted:

e including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);
and

e including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to save or
holding shares for a specified period of time).
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(iii) Share-based payments (Continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options or restricted shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end
of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of
the number of options or restricted shares that are expected
to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

Share option scheme

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in
the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value
of employee services received, measured by reference to the
grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a
corresponding credit to equity.
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(continued) (#&)

(iii) Share-based payments (Continued)
Share award scheme

When restricted shares are granted, the fair value of
restricted shares are recognised as expense with a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the vesting period.

Where the Group purchases the Company’s shares from
the market, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held
for award scheme” and deducted from total equity.

The social security contributions payable in connection
with the grant of the share options and restricted shares
is considered an integral part of the grant itself, and the
charge will be treated as a cash-settled transaction.

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, its associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the statement of
financial position and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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(continued) (#&)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, joint
venture and associates, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent
that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in
the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payment made under operating leases, net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are
included in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants
and are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the expected lives of the related assets.

(continued) (#)

FURT B R0 48 K BF 23 [\ fe A0 [ 3% B
HARENEE - ﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬂf°
REBQLHE (IR BEABERNE
] 15280 1F BV  SUIR T B A B ARE R
B AR -

S BB P AR XS D AR K E R
WYE BEAREHESESBE
HE - REHENHHRERKREE
MEAFEEREEENKRERE
2 BEEEARL -

B A ERTE MR BFNFEE) -
KB ET A MRS IR - BUTHE
R E N FEHER -

SR B 7N A 8 O TR 48 B S O SR - I
éﬁﬁﬁmﬁ“%&ﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬂ

Y WENREEENBUTHEE
SIAIERE B ENERIEEBATME -
W BEARER R EERFTFRETA

B -

2017%%% 109



110

(continued) (#&)

Available- Financial Financial
for-sale assets at fair liabilities at
financial value through Loans and amortised
assets  profit or loss receivables cost
N REBHRAE
AHHE RiEE AR BXK HEZ
BKEE ZHBEE W RIE BgaE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE FAET FAET FAT FAET
As at 31 December 2017 E—
+=-A=+—~H
Available-for-sale financial assets At HEHEEE 21 596,360 - - -
Deposits, trade and e  BHREM
other receivables FEW R IR - - 1,859,370 =
Financial assets at fair value BATFESERAR
through profit or loss 2B EE 24 - 48,842 - -
Time deposits, bank balances TFEER - RITEE
and cash &k 25 - - 2,338,978 -
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ERFRIR - - - 1,420,394
Borrowings aE 28 - - - 749,258
Senior notes BERE 29 - - - 4,970,240
596,360 48,842 4,198,348 7,139,892
As at 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
—A=+—~
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AJ {tH £ S EE 21 638,262 = = =
Deposits, trade and we  BHRHEM
other receivables W B - = 1,726,189 =
Financial assets at fair value BATESER AR
through profit or loss 2R E 24 - 47,448 - -
Time deposits, bank balances TEHIFR « SRITH
and cash kRE 25 = = 1,858,653 =
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMER IR - - - 1,302,258
Borrowings BE 28 = - - 360,907
Senior notes BERE 29 - - - 5,006,417
638,262 47,448 3,584,842 6,669,582
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of
its business and financial instruments. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk

0]

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to United States dollars (“US$”), Canadian dollars
(“CAD") and Renminbi. Currency risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.
In addition, the conversion of Renminbi into foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. This currency exposure is managed
primarily through sourcing supplies denominated in the
same currency.

Management has set up a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against functional currency. It mainly includes
managing the exposures arise from sales and purchases
made by the relevant group companies in currencies
other than their own functional currencies. The Group
also manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures. The Group has not used any forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure.

Prices for oil and natural gas in Canada are determined
in global markets and generally denominated in US$.
Qil prices obtained by the Group are influenced by
both United States and Canadian demand and the
corresponding North American supply. The exchange
rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an
increase in the value of CAD as compared to US$
will reduce the prices received by the Group for its
petroleum and natural gas sales.
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(continued) (#&)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(0]

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

As US$ is pegged with HK$ under the Linked Exchange
Rate System, the Group has minimal exposure to
currency risk arising from US$. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is performed. As at 31 December
2017, if Renminbi had weakened/strengthened
by 5% against HK$, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
HK$113,263,000 (2016: HK$95,266,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of Renminbi denominated cash
and cash equivalents.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments classified as available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. Other than unlisted debt and
equity securities held for strategic purposes, all of
these investments are listed. Most of the Group's
listed investments are listed on the stock exchanges of
Hong Kong and other countries. Decisions to buy or
sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of
the performance of the individual securities compared
to that of the index and other industry indicators, as
well as the Group'’s liquidity needs. Listed investments
held in the available-for-sale portfolio have been
chosen based on their longer term growth potential
and are monitored regularly for performance against
expectations. The portfolio is diversified in terms of
industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set
by the Group.
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(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Price risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, debt and equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$48,842,000 (2016:
HK$47,448,000). Price risk arises on account of debt
and equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss is not material to the
Group as a whole.

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value or
future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes
in commodity prices. Commodity prices for oil and
natural gas in Canada are impacted by the relationship
between CAD and US$ as well as world economic
events that dictate the levels of supply and demand.

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets, except for short-term bank deposits, loan to
an associate and loans to third parties, the Group's
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing assets resulted from changes
in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings
and senior notes. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk.

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes are
set out in Notes 28 and 29 respectively.
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(continued) (#&)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk as the interest
rate risk exposure is not significant. In order to manage
the cash flow interest rate risk, the Group will repay
the corresponding borrowings when it has surplus
funds.

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates on floating rate borrowings, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group's post tax profit for the year by approximately
HK$2,913,000 (2016: HK$1,683,000). The above
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the date
of the statement of financial position and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis
points increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the year until the next annual statement of
financial position date. The analysis was performed on
the same basis for 2016.

(b) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, the debt instruments under available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these financial instruments. Management has a

credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, all of the Group's
bank deposits are deposited in major financial institutions
located in the PRC, Canada and Hong Kong, which the
management believes are of high credit quality without
significant credit risk. The Group’s bank deposits as at 31
December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(b)

(continued) (#)
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2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET

State-owned or A=k ETHIRT
listed banks 1,801,522 1,590,103
Other banks HAbRTT 535,390 265,264
2,336,912 1,855,367

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with
banks and excludes cash on hand of HK$3,286,000
and HK$1,646,000, as at 31 December 2017 and 2016
respectively. Credit risk also arises from outstanding trade
and other receivables from customers and a number of
counter parties.

The management considers the credit risk on loans to an
associate and third parties after considering the financial
conditions of the counter parties. Management has
performed assessment over the recoverability of the balances
and management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counter parties.

FERREEEEEER - 58
H&XQE%&E% £{EIEA -

TEF TRERZZ—tF
&:gfﬁ¢+:ﬂz+faﬁ
7l 43,286,000/% 7T & 1,646,000
BT FHEEE - SRR IR
BEREKEFRZEZHFHRRE
BE S REMEWEIE -

KEREFHZHBHRR - 8
BRAEEXRT—HBBERTRE
ZHZEERBREM - EEE
Btz &6 2 AT E MR R
f BEREBHIERZEY
F B EEFMERS -

20175 F 5K

115



116

(continued) (#&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group generally requests advances from customers. In
circumstances of credit sales, to manage the credit risk in
respect of trade and other receivables, the Group has policies
in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit history and the Group performs credit
evaluations of its customers, and generally does not require
collateral from the customers on the outstanding balances.
Based on the expected recoverability and timing for collection
of the outstanding balances, the Group maintains a provision
for impairment of receivables and actual losses incurred have
been within management’s expectation.

Debt instruments held by the Group are normally only in
liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange,
except where entered into for long-term strategic purposes.
Given their high credit standing, management does not
expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’'s Board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial position
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the statement of financial position
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
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(continued) (#)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) REEZELE ()
Total Less than
Total  contractual ~ Repayable 1year Between Between
carrying undiscounted on oron 1102 2t05
amount cash flow demand demand years years
BHRFER  ZARER 15
REAE REREL: EE RERXA 122 285%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Group T Tir FHr T Titn T
As at 31 December 2017 RZZ—+F
+-A=1-B
Trade and other payables B % REMERTIE 1420394 1420394 142039 - - -
Borrowings = 749,258 782,595 - 715,005 12,240 55,350
Senior notes (Note) BARE () 4970240 5771121 - - 295817 2,818,304

7139892 7974110 1,420,394 715005 2,965,057 2,873,654

As at 31 December 2016 RZE-RE

tZA=1-A

Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFUE 1302258 1,302,258 1,302,258 = = =

Borrowings B8 360,907 373,829 = 373,829 = =

Senior notes (Note) BEZE () 5006417 5,037,500 - - 2712500 2,325,000
6,660582 6713587 1302258 373829 2,712,500 2,325,000

Note: s

The Group complied with senior notes covenant and did not trigger SEETEARBEO R EEEEE

the callable terms. B ANE B IR -
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(continued) (#&)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditure and projected strategic investment opportunities. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase
the Company’s shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of available cash and
cash equivalents and current ratio as shown in and derived from
the consolidated statement of financial position. The table below
analyses the Group's capital structure:

SECEAERIRERARESRE
BSEERERQEZEN  URERK
RERE R BHE MRS E B K
Mad o YRFEREEARBURDE
APA e

SHEERE RN REEERRERE
WEEEEBEZARESFRNER
M - BRI REHANE N RIEHE
EBRIRE  BHEAHAX REHE
BEREREMERBILEARBRK
REH - BRFAFHBEARRERE &
BEREeHBEINTRREZEESHE
EEARRD  ARREHRER - 3
TR IHE B EARDET °

SEREBEFEAMBRARATRAE
ez AREKREEEER MR
B RETER - TRREEELRSE
Bz

2017 2016
—E2—+tF —ZE—RF
Cash and cash RekREEEIEER
equivalents (HK$'000) (F%7T) 2,290,447 1,833,483
Current ratio (Current assets MELLE ORENEE
divided by current liabilities) BRLAGEIBE) 1.08 1.21

The Group's strategy is to maintain the current ratio above 1.00
and sufficient cash and cash equivalents to support the operations
and development of its business in the long term.
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(continued) (#)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) URFEIEzL@MTA

The following table presents the carrying value of the TREJNRUBARAKBEES

financial instruments measured at fair value at the statement BB RELERETR SR T

of financial position date across the three levels of the fair B BEIMAEZATFE=ME

value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: R - ARAFEINR /T

Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial instruments B7EAE MEEMIAEZA

categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input FEAHZATEAEBERZ

that is significant to that fair value measurement. SEE R AT MEEDLE -

The levels are defined as follows: FIREZEBRET :

e Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using o F—EBRXE&EEER) U
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for Hnlem THEERTISF®
identical financial instruments. BR(RERAZ)FEAT

& o

e Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in o FEoRENR:LEUeRTA
active market for similar financial instruments, or using ERMIS®E - A GRER
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are fir (E /R AT = K A BUE
directly or indirectly based on observable data. ThE ok BB DA A B SR B

RAE)HAERFE-

e Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using o E-—EBAX(HKEREBNX): K
valuation techniques in which any significant input is HEFM(EREREGAH
not based on observable market data. B IER BRI EHIE A

A)EHEATE -
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(continued) (#&)

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

(i) KRAFEIKZEMTA (&)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-BR FBIR FZBR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FET
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+=-A=+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets: Al H &M HEE
— Listed equity investments — ETRARE 136,733 - - 136,733
— Listed debt instruments —ETEBIA 459,177 - - 459,177
—~ Unlisted debt instruments —FLmREFIA - 450 = 450
Financial assets at fair value EATEEEEAR L
through profit or loss: BITSERE :
— Listed debt instruments - tmEBTA 20,822 - - 20,822
— Unlisted debt instruments —FEMEBIR - 28,020 - 28,020
616,732 28,470 - 645,202
As at 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+ZA=1+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets: I EFEEE -
— Listed equity investments — ETRARE 918 - - 918
— Listed debt instruments - EmEBKIA 636,962 - - 636,962
— Unlisted debt instruments —FLrmEKIA - 382 - 382
Financial assets at fair value BATEEEEARZ
through profit or loss: BBEE -
— Listed debt instruments - EmEKIA 20,029 - - 20,029
— Unlisted debt instruments —FLTREEIA = 27,419 = 27,419
657,909 27,801 - 685,710
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(i)

Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers between
instruments in level 1 and level 2.

(a

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the date
of the statement of financial position. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise primarily Hong Kong and
Dow Jones equity and debt investments classified as
trading securities or available-for-sale.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

()
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(continued) (#&)

(ii)  Fair values of financial instruments carried at other

than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments,
including non-current assets carried at cost or amortised cost
are not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2017 and 2016.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the date of the statement
of financial position.The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price
(i.e. level T — highest level). The fair value of financial
instruments that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques.

The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each statement of financial position date. Quoted market
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for
long-term borrowings. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for
the remaining financial instruments.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment of
current receivables and of current payables are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. Estimated discounted
cash flows at the current market interest rate are used to
determine fair value for these financial instruments (i.e. level
3 — lowest level).
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The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgements,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom
equal to the estimates.

Estimates and judgements are regularly evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most critical
in understanding the estimates and judgements that are involved in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The Group tests at least annually whether loan receivable from
and interest in an associate suffered any impairment. Business
valuation was performed and management reviewed for possible
impairments whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Determination
as to whether and how much an asset is impaired involves
management estimates and judgements such as commodity price
growth, future production profile, and discount rate. However, the
impairment reviews and calculations are based on assumptions that
are consistent with the Group’s business plans. Favourable changes
to some assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the need to
impair any assets in these years, whereas unfavourable changes
may cause the assets to become impaired.

Specific assumptions and estimates involved in the cash flow
projections are set out in Note 20.
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(continued) (#&)

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Property, plant and equipment and goodwill
are also reviewed for possible impairments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Determination as to whether and how
much an asset is impaired involves management estimates and
judgements such as future prices of natural gas and crude oil.
However, the impairment reviews and calculations are based on
assumptions that are consistent with the Group’s business plans.
Favourable changes to some assumptions may allow the Group
to avoid the need to impair any assets in these years, whereas
unfavourable changes may cause the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological prospects for
the discovery of oil in the oilfield and estimated the value of oil to
be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. For drilling costs and other exploration
and evaluation assets, the Group determined whether the related
well costs are expensed if it is determined that such economic
viability is not attained after performing further feasibility studies.
Judgement is required by the Board to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow projections and changes to key
assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections
and therefore the results of the impairment reviews.
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The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment in the segment of “Sales and distribution of natural
gas and other related products”. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual values
of property, plant and equipment and land use right of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technological advancement and innovations in the natural gas
industry. Management will adjust the depreciation charge where
residual values vary with previously estimated, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. Actual residual values may differ
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation in the future periods.

Estimates of petroleum reserves are key elements in the Group's
investment decision-making process. They are also an important
element in testing for impairment. Changes in total proved
plus probable petroleum reserves will affect unit-of-production
depreciation and depletion recorded in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for property, plant and equipment related
to oil and gas production activities. A reduction in proved plus
probable reserves will increase depreciation and depletion
charges. Petroleum reserve estimates are subject to revision, either
upward or downward, based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from changes
in economic factors, including product prices, contract terms or
development plans.
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The Group’s principal activities are the sales and distribution of EETEREHERDHERAR  FBHRK
natural gas, crude oil and other related products and provision of EMABEERMRPREEAREERE
construction and connection services of gas pipelines in the PRC, and EEEBRE  UEENEAFREEEER
the exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas in Canada. MERARR - FREEFREUTSE

Revenue for the year comprises the following:

2017 2016
—E—+tfF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
Sales and distribution of natural gas SHE REPE R AR REMABBEER
and other related products 6,773,775 5,424,144
Gas pipeline connection and PRRE B R R E RIS U
construction services income 524,680 721,041
Revenue from exploitation and RAERKREERBRRAR L X
production of crude oil and
natural gas 352,825 301,267
7,651,280 6,446,452
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The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance focuses more specifically on sales of natural
gas, gas pipeline construction and connection; and exploitation and
production of crude oil and natural gas.

The Group has presented the following three reportable segments for
the year ended 31 December 2017:

—  sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products
—  gas pipeline construction and connection
—  exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segments based on profit before taxation without allocation of other
gains, net, interest income, finance costs, share of losses of investments
accounted for using the equity method, reversal of impairment losses
on oil and gas properties under property, plant and equipment,
written off of exploration and evaluation assets, losses on disposals
of exploration and evaluation assets and other unallocated corporate
expenses, which is consistent with these in the consolidated financial
statements. Meanwhile, the Group does not allocate assets and
liabilities to its segments and report the sales from external customers
by geographical market, as the executive directors do not use these
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of
operating segment. Therefore, the Group does not report a measure
of segment assets and liabilities for each reportable segment and a
measure of sales by geographical market.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016 is set out below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017: HE-T—tF+-A=1+—"HILFE:
Sales and
distribution
of natural Gas pipeline  Exploitation and
gas and construction production of
other related and crude oil and
products connection natural gas Group
HEREX RRR
AARREM RREE EERM
HEER BERER RARE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THT TR

Segment revenue and results PHBRAREE

Sales to external customers INBEFIHER 6,773,775 524,680 352,825 7,651,280
Segment results aRIE 664,093 242,982 76,842 983,917
Interest income 03N 101,741
Other gains, net Hites - 558 22,901
Finance costs H%ER (203,677)
Reversal of impairment losses mE - BERERBET

on oil and gas properties under HREEREBRER

property, plant and equipment - - 4,402 4,402
Written off of exploration BER R AHE B 2R ER

and evaluation assets - - (2,357) (2,357)
Share of losses of investments AGEREREAR

accounted for using the REER

equity method (2,356)
Unallocated corporate expenses APEEERS (93,105)
Profit before taxation BrEXATR T 811,466
Taxation i (188,527)

Profit for the year F AR 622,939

128 Annual Report 2017



For the year ended 31 December 2016:

(continued) (4)

HE-_Z—R"F+-A=1t—HILFE:

Sales and
distribution
of natural Gas pipeline  Exploitation and
gas and construction production of
other related and crude oil and
products connection natural gas Group
HEREEZ R
RARREM, MR EB EERA
HHER BERER RARRER 5B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT TET
Segment revenue and results DHBAREE
Sales to external customers INBEPIHERE 5,424,144 721,041 301,267 6,446,452
Segment results NEEE 512,863 353,804 31,108 897,775
Interest income 90 S UN 83,310
Other gains, net Hitnlzs - 55 137,780
Finance costs M%ER (201,946)
Reversal of impairment losses W BERJEBRT
on ail and gas properties under hRAEREEERLD
property, plant and equipment - - 52,003 52,003
Written off of exploration iR KA B E Y
and evaluation asset - - (11,745) (11,745)
Losses on disposals of exploration HEHR R EENER
and evaluation assets - - (1,909) (1,909)
Share of losses of investments NMEERRREARZ
accounted for using the KEEE
equity method (15,651)
Unallocated corporate expenses APEEERT (97,488)
Profit before taxation BRI A 842,129
Taxation B (184,461)
Profit for the year FREH 657,668

No external customers of the Group contributed over 10.0% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Bz _Z—+tFrk_ZTE—X~"F+_HA
=+—HLEFE SELEIBRFRE
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Analysis of the Group’s assets by geographical market for the years

ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 is set out below:

HE-Z-—tER-Z-~FT=A

=t—HALFE SEZMETSEDZ
BEZOWMHEINT

2017 2016
“E—tE —E-RE
Additions to Additions to
Total non-current Total non-current
assets assets assets assets
hE NE
BEE FRBEE BEE FnehEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET FET
Hong Kong BE 137,351 - 371,483 =
Mainland China HEI A 12,018,750 1,020,397 10,000,284 910,722
Canada mex 2,419,335 232,466 2,226,787 130,598
Total A&t 14,575,436 1,252,863 12,598,554 1,041,320
Unallocated AR
Investments accounted for FRESEARZIRE
using the equity method 321,167 300,065
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 4,796 19,510
Available-for-sale financial assets AEEENEEE 596,360 638,262
Financial assets at fair value EATESEEARL
through profit and loss MISEE 48,842 47,448
Total assets BEE 15,546,601 13,603,839
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2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Government subsidies AT Eh 14,737 13,183
Service income BRASUA 5,733 4,880
Dividend income SR ON 3,056 =
Rental income WA 1,822 3,875
Others HAith 4,914 4,797
30,262 26,735
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ERF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Fair value gains on financial assets BAFELERARNI
at fair value through profit or loss BENNFERE 1,394 902
Losses on disposals of HERATELER AR
financial assets at fair value KBTS B EE1E
through profit or loss - (3)
Gains on disposals of AT Y S B S
available-for-sale financial assets EEkaS 17,748 1,879
Gains on disposals of an associate/ HE Mg QR —H
a subsidiary (Note 34) B8~ Bk R (PR 5E34) 3,759 124,199
Gains on bargain purchases (Note 33)  :(BUkBEU S (FF7E33) - 10,803
22,901 137,780
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Operating profit has been arrived after charging/(crediting) the

following items:

RN R GEA) ATEEA

2017 2016
—E—tF —ERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) B EMEHFIF X (HFE11) 333,359 310,230
Minimum lease payments under HE T REFHRELERENRK
operating leases for leasehold land
and buildings 13,494 16,883
Cost of inventories recognised R MTEERA
as expense
— Purchase of inventories —-BEFE 5,415,724 4,461,966
— Change of inventories —FNFEE
during the year 53,863 (10,897)
Auditor's remuneration ZEENE S 2,300 2,300
Depreciation and depletion M - BB KR ETTE RERE (M 16)
of property, plant and
equipment (Note 16) 428,491 415,992
Amortisation of land use Tt s RS (P52 18)
rights (Note 18) 8,503 8,587
Amortisation of intangible R EEE (fE19)
assets (Note 19) 2,521 2,685
Losses on disposals of property, HEME - BEMRENEE
plant and equipment 1,652 4,698
Losses on disposals of exploration HEMREHEEERNERE
and evaluation assets - 1,909
Net exchange gains HE 3 a5 58 (28) (448)
Write off of exploration and VR R aP s & =R as (st 17)
evaluation assets (Note 17) 2,357 11,745
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2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finance income from: BIBBARE -
Interest income on bank deposits RITE A S WA 30,218 14,206
Interest income on debt securities BEISEHRF BHBA 29,704 29,287
Loan to an associate (Note 23(c)) BT —REEE AR (B35 23() 40,898 36,513
Loans to third parties (Note 23(d)) BERTE=7 (K5 23(d) 921 3,304
101,741 83,310
Finance costs from: WEERARE :
Interest expense on: FEEM
Bank borrowings RITIEE (23,578) (19,686)
Other borrowings HibEE (2,494) (13,645)
Senior notes BRERE (274,968) (272,904)
Accretion of assets retirement A R AR (MR 31)
obligation (Note 31) (2,611) (2,295)
Less: Amounts capitalised B BAME e EE (I EE 16(i00))
(Note 16(iii)) 99,974 106,584
(203,677) (201,946)
Net finance costs B 75 & FF58 (101,936) (118,636)
2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, wages and bonuses e ITEMES 293,359 266,015
Pension costs — defined BRIREBRAR
contribution plans —RERKETE 35,256 38,976
Share option B 3,753 3,441
Share awards R tn 42D 991 1,798
333,359 310,230
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The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include 1 (2016: 1) director whose
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12(a).
The emoluments paid or payable to the remaining 4 (2016: 4)
individuals during the year are as follows:

SEFRAEESMEZ ATRE1E
EFE(ZZT—AF:1%) H#EE
ERKTEE 12(a) 2P DT - FRER
HEMTEHBABR(ZT—RF 1 45)
ATHB ST

2017 2016
—=E—tF —ZE—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and e REREYR
benefits in kind 10,022 8,686
Equity-settled share-based LAREZ 45 E LA ) BT 3R
payments 7,859 6,133
Retirement benefits scheme RIRAEHFT B K
contributions 18 18
17,899 14,837

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band was as follows:

BATHEHE ZEEABWT :

Number of employees

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 T2 4,000,000 47T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 T2 5,000,000 47T

No emoluments were paid or payable to the directors and above
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the financial years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016.
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Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management BATHcSHEEMNENSREEEK
fell within the following bands: SHMEFIE ¢

Number of employees

BEAK

2017 2016

—E—tF TERF

HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000 0’ 7T% 1,000,000 7T 7 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 & 7TZ 2,000,000 /7T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 87T % 3,000,000 77T — 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 87T % 4,000,000 /& 7T 2 7
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T Z 5,000,000 /& 7T 6 =
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BE-_Z—+tHE+-_RA=+—HItHF

Details of remuneration of directors for the year ended 31

December 2017 were as follows: EZESMESFBLT -
Salaries, Employer's
allowances  contribution to

and benefits

a retirement

Fees inkind  benefit scheme Total
e By
ERR RINEF
ik BEFE STEIMHR ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THER THER THER
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Tie-liang TR
(Chief Executive Officer) (1THEE) 120 10,348 18 10,486
Cheung Shing ® A 120 - - 120
Guan Yijun BEE 120 1,170 18 1,308
Zhu Yuan X B 120 - - 120
Independent BUFHTES:
non-executive directors:
Shi Xun-zhi FIMA=E—F
(resigned on May 18, 2017) AATNARER) 45 - - 45
Li Yun-long e 120 - - 120
Wang Guang-tian TEA 120 - - 120
Yang Jie B HERZZ—t4F
(appointed on May 18, 2017) RATN\BEZE) 75 - - 75
Total @t 840 11,518 36 12,394
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Details of remuneration of directors for the year ended 31

e IR R M

(continued) (#)

12 EFNERERS (BB QTR
(36622 ) 58383 1% ~ 2 & (]
BESMmER) RB (5 622G
B)REBEBLDRBERKE)
(&)

(a) EZM= (&)

HE_Z-—RE+_A=+—HILHF

December 2016 were as follows: EZEZEEHSFHBOT ¢
Salaries, Employer's
allowances contribution to
and benefits a retirement
Fees in kind benefit scheme Total
E ExY
AR RINET
ik BNz SRR o]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THET THEx
Executive directors: YTES:
Xu Tie-liang AHRR
(Chief Executive Officer) GreE9 120 9,617 18 9,755
Cheung Shing ® B 120 - - 120
Guan Yijun HEE 120 1,170 18 1,308
Zhu Yuan x R 120 - - 120
Independent BUFHTES:
non-executive directors:
Shi Xun-zhi 3% 120 - - 120
Li Yun-long FEE 120 - - 120
Wang Guang-tian TEH 120 - - 120
Total Mt 840 10,787 36 11,663

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of the
Company as an accepting office as director or as a compensation
for loss of office as director.

BEAREENELAMNE - BT
ERERNAREENME  ERE
REERM 2 BBHABMEESRLL
fHIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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12 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2016: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the year (2016: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors
for making available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2016: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the year (2016: Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group'’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2016: Nil).
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No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax for
the year (2016: Nil).

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance note, subsidiaries in
Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at
25% (2016: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled to tax concessions
and tax relief whereby the profits of those subsidiaries are taxed at a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2016: 15%).

Taxation on overseas (other than Hong Kong and PRC) profits has
been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
applicable rates of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

(continued) (#)

HREERAFEYERRNETAAZANE
BNERERVEHN - B EREEF
SRERBEER (ZE—RF | -

RIEABEPBECEMRERE - GO REME
A R E AR B A RE25% (=
TN 1 25%) 2R RBMF R EMST
M- ATWEBRARZEHBEERES
Bl ZEHBRARZHFAEERMBEBH
FRE15% (ZF—NF : 15%) AFi -

5 (15 B8 Kok B0 R T A SR B AE
B ) %78 B P AT B 6 1R 4 9 T
R0 FIET B -

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Current tax: EHIFIE -

PRC corporate income tax R EATISH 163,592 176,172
Overseas taxation BINIA - 1,009
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 3,957 9,432
167,549 186,613
Deferred tax (Note 30) RIERIA (M52 30) 20,978 (2,152)
Taxation 1A 188,527 184,461

There is no tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

BHE-_T—+tF+-A=+—HLEE"
TEAMEMEEBRERILY 2 RBF
E(ZT—RF:8E)-
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The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax
rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows:

SEBRBA RN HIBREREREE R
FzmMETEREELEZBERESBEZEN
T~

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Profit before taxation R A& A 811,466 842,129
Tax calculated at the applicable rates 1R BB 5 AR 2 @A

in the tax jurisdictions concerned HEAENTIE 228,038 203,865
Tax effect of income not subject BEFHIMANT IS E

to taxation (36,092) (56,758)
Tax effect of expenses not AR MR E

deductible for tax purpose 13,172 43,816
Tax effect of tax concessions WA e & (27,327) (15,894)
Unrecognised tax losses RERBIIEEE 6,779 =
Under provision in prior years BAFEREBTR 3,957 9,432
Taxation IR 188,527 184,461

The weighted average applicable tax rate is 28.1% (2016: 24.2%).
The increase is caused by a change in the profitability of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the respective jurisdictions.

ERANMEFEHERAE281% (ZT—/NF
242%)  BMEEARHREBHE QAR
ZENBEEBERZBFEBTE -

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHERT FET
Proposed final dividend of T‘%ﬁ?ﬁﬂfﬁﬂﬁn SR E A% 0.35 81l
HK cent 0.35 (ZZ—71%F : 0.50 (L)
(2016: HK cent 0.50)
per ordinary share 20,390 29,128
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A final dividend relating to the year ended 31 December 2016
amounted to HK$29,128,000 was fully paid on 16 June 2017.

The Board proposed a distribution out of the contributed surplus
account of the Company of HK cent 0.35 per ordinary share for the
year ended 31 December 2017 on 27 March 2018 (2016: HK cent
0.50) amounting to a total of approximately HK$20,390,000 at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 12 June 2018. This
proposed distribution is not reflected as a dividend payable as of 31
December 2017, but will be recorded as a distribution of contributed
surplus for the year ending 31 December 2018.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$250,467,000 (2016: HK$311,791,000) and
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less shares
held under share award scheme during the year of approximately
5,148,640,000 shares (2016: 5,212,795,000 shares).

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2017 is calculated based on the profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$250,467,000 (2016:
HK$311,791,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of approximately 5,156,235,000 (2016: 5,228,843,000)
shares which is the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue less shares held under share award scheme during the
year plus the weighted average number of dilutive potential
ordinary shares in respect of share options of approximately
6,075,000 shares (2016: 14,903,000 shares) and the effect
of awarded shares of approximately 1,520,000 shares (2016:
1,145,000 shares) deemed to be issued at no consideration if all
outstanding share options granted had been exercised.
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(Note (i)
(Note(v) ~ Plantand  Oiland gas (Note (i)  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  properties Pipelines Others in progress Total
(M) (Fsr@m)  (Possk(i)
BF FRERES hREE Bl iy ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER TR THL TAL TR TAL TR
As at 1 January 2016 R=E-~E-A-H
Cost A 671,133 913,644 3,123,650 2,564,223 440,124 1,271,066 8,983,840
Accumulated depreciation RiiE - BRERAE

depletion and impairment (124,577) (289,978)  (1,280,205) (504,407) (249,132) - (2,448,299
Net book value REFE 546,556 623,006 1,843,445 2,059,816 190,992 1,271,066 6,535,541
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZ-E-REtZR

St-BLEE
At 1 January 2016 RZZ—"5—-A—H 546,556 623666 1,843,445 2,059,816 190,992 1,271,066 6,535,541
Currency realignment R (41,133 (@3049) 64881  (140368)  (10378)  (73479)  (243526)
Acquisition of businesses (Note 33) WeEss (Bt 33) - = 58,947 = = = 58,947
Additions AE 79,255 10,208 86,377 1,340 7,692 606,661 791,533
Transfers BR 58,019 86,662 = 326,060 2,504 (473,245) =
Transfer from exploration EREORR

and evaluation assets (Note 17) FhEE(E17) = = 30,579 = = = 30,579
Disposals/written-off E/ A (1,089) (1,945) - (50,884)  (13,746) = (67,664)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(b) ~ HE—REIMBRF (MizE34() (13,230) (7,677) - (86,369) (1,654) (7,499)  (116,429)
Depreciation and depletion ST RARRE (ML (i)

for the year (Note (ii)) (30,601) (58,280)  (171,530)  (116,668) (38,913) - (415,992)
Reversal of impairment losses WEBREE (P (v)

(Note (iv)) - - 52,003 - - - 52,003
At 31 December 2016 RZE—"F+-A=+-R 597,777 609,585  1,964702 1992927 136497  1,323504 6,624,992
As at 31 December 2016 BRZE-"E+=A=t+-H
Cost KA 741,328 921,251 3,407,931 2,559,323 333958 1,323,504 9,287,295
Accumulated depreciation, ZiHE  BERAE

depletion and impairment (143,551) (311,666)  (1,443,229) (566,396) (197,461) - (2,662,303)
Net book value REFE 597,777 609,585 1,964,702 1,992,927 136,497 1,323,504 6,624,992
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(Note (iii)
(Note(v))  Plantand Oil and gas (Note (i)) Construction
Buildings  machinery  properties  Pipelines Others in progress Total
(W& W) (MEEG)  (PREGi))
BF BEREE HREE B Ht  ERIR act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THET THET TR TR THET TR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-E-—tF
+ZA=t-ALEE
At 1 January 2017 R=2—tF-f—-A 597,777 609,585 1,964,702 1,992,927 136,497 1323504 6,624,992
Currency realignment B 14,202 11,733 97,946 157,558 33,824 74,233 389,496
Additions AE 12,515 26,136 225,676 22,065 14,851 833944 1,135,187
Transfers E23 60,587 109,295 - 566,996 2,989 (739,867) -
Transfer from exploration and ERADRRTEE

evaluation assets (Note 17) (HzE17) - - 14,320 - - = 14,320
Disposals/written-off e /i (832) (1,923) - (2,915) (9,017) - (14,687)
Depreciation and depletion FRTERIERE ()

for the year (Note (ii) (29,372) (74,382)  (169,524)  (123,299) (31,914) - (428,491)
Reversal of impairment losses BRI (M (v))

(Note (iv)) - - 4,402 - - - 4,402
At 31 December 2017 R=E-tF+-A=1+-H 654,877 680,444 2,137,522 2,613,332 147,230 1,491,814 7,725,219
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z—+%5+-A=+-AR
Cost AR 836,175  1,095468 3,830,865 3,378,691 397,775 1,491,814 11,030,788
Accumulated depreciation, e - BERAE

depletion and impairment (181,298)  (415,024) (1,693,343)  (765,359)  (250,545) - (3,305,569)
Net book value FEFE 654,877 680,444 2,137,522 2,613,332 147,230 1,491,814 7,725,219
Notes: o
() Others mainly represent motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and equipment, () HmEZHEARE KM HERF

and tool and moulds with net book values amounting to approximately ERIAENKEL EEFED R
HK$42,085,000 (2016: HK$57,947,000), HK$38,764,000 (2016: 4 /42,085,000 T( = T — X &
HK$39,675,000) and HK$66,381,000 (2016: HK$38,875,000) respectively. 57,947,000/ 7T ) * 38,764,000 L (==&
— 7N 39,675,000 7T ) K 66,381,000

BT (ZZE—7% : 38,875,000/#7T) °
(i)  Depreciation and depletion of approximately HK$406,998,000 (i) 7 B & 1B % 4406,998,000% (= =

(2016: HK$395,831,000),

respectively.

HK$1,253,000 (2016: HK$1,386,000) and
HK$20,240,000 (2016: HK$18,775,000) have been charged in cost
of sales, selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses

— N % :395,831,000/87T) * 1,253,000
BILT(ZZT—7"%F:1,386,00087L) &
20,240,000 70 (= ZF— /3% 18,775,000
BIT) DRIREERAR - $HE REBERK AR
TERAZFHE -
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Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to
HK$99,974,000 (2016: HK$106,584,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing
costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general
borrowings of 5.4% (2016: 5.4%).

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties is determined as the
value in use using a discounted cash flow method and is assessed at the
Cash Generating Units (“CGUs") level.

The Group regularly assesses market commodity prices, costs to carry out
planned drilling programs, drilling results, and reservoir performance to
determine if there are any indicators of impairment of the Group's assets.
As at 31 December 2016, forward benchmark commodity prices in 2016
were relatively consistent with prices in 2015, and the Group reserves
increased from 2015 to 2016 due to both drilling success and positive
well performance. Capital expenditures to carry out the Group’s drilling
program were generally lower in 2016 due to reduced levels of industry
activity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group determined that there were
no indicators of impairment 2 out of 3 CGUs. Due to significant oil and gas
reserve additions in the remaining CGU in 2016, there were indicators of a
reversal of impairment so an impairment test of that CGU was performed
at 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group determined that the value-in-use
of the CGU amounting to approximately HK$1,454,308,000 exceeded
its carrying amount amounting to approximately HK$1,402,305,000.
Accordingly, an impairment reversal of HK$52,003,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2017, although forward benchmark commodity prices
beyond 5 years were generally lower than prices in 2016, the Group's
oil and gas reserves increased from 2016 to 2017 due to both drilling
success and positive well performance. Capital expenditure to carry out
the Group's drilling program increased in 2017 were consistent with costs
in 2016. As at 31 December 2017, the Group determined that there
were indicators of impairment for 2 out of 3 CGUs. In addition, due to
significant reserve additions in the remaining CGU in 2017, there was
indicator of a reversal of impairment for that CGU. As a result, impairment
tests were performed on all three CGUs at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group determined that the values in use of
these CGUs amounting to approximately HK$2,001,458,000 exceeded
their carrying amounts amounting to approximately HK$1,997,056,000.
Accordingly, a reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$4,402,000
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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(iv)
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Notes: (Continued)
(iv)  (Continued)

The fair value measurement of the Group’s oil and gas properties is
designated Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

The key assumptions for the calculation are those regarding the discount
rates and expected changes in future oil prices. The expected future oil
prices for the next five years ranged from US$57.5 to US$71.2 per barrel
(2016: US$55.0 to US$71.0 per barrel). Forecast benchmark crude oil
price assumptions tended to be stable because short-term increases or
decreases in prices were not considered indicative of long-term price
levels, but were nonetheless subject to change. The Group used a pre-tax
discount rates ranging from 8% to 20% (2016: 8% to 20%) to discount
future cash flows from the Group’s CGU(s). These rates differed based
upon classification of reserve type, commodity type, timing of future
development expenditures and operating burdens.

(v)  During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired a building
amounted to approximately HK$72,945,000 with lease terms of 40 years.
The estimated useful lives of buildings changed from 25 years to 40 years
as mentioned in Note 3(f).

(continued) (#)
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(iv)

(%)

SR EREENAFEABREER/AY
BEERNE=FE -

ZAEAENEEREAWEREERAKE
BEEHEL - RRAFHABBEEHEN
TERBAEESTISETETI2ET(ZZ
—NF: BHAEE55.0FXTTE71.0%
L) c MAIRERBEBRETE  BRE
WA EARTRIETEBRAERKTE
WEEZE BNeg2s - SEFEANT8%
F20% (ZZ—RF 8% E£20%) KR
AR RN B EERSELBMNARRIR
SRE RENREANFHEEL  BRE
B RREABRTENBEEKLEaEmS
1t °

RBEE-_ZT—X"F+_A=+—BLLtHF
B SEIKE—ESELX A72,945,000 %
TZET  HHAL0F - EFHGEEE
FAEE PR 2N PR 5 3(F) ATt B8 25 F 2R A 40 6F ©

2017 2016
—=E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost PR AR

At 1 January m—H—H 213,548 249,139
Currency realignment BB 11,528 9,665
Additions INE 6,790 -
Disposals HE - (2,932)
Written off (Note 9) REE (FEE9) (2,357) (11,745)

Transfer to oil and gas properties EEEYE  BENIZEET

under property, plant and MREE (MiFE16)

equipment (Note 16) (14,320) (30,579)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 215,189 213,548
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Exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s costs of
acquiring licenses and interests in undeveloped lands in West Central
Alberta, Canada, which are pending the determination of proved or
probable oil and gas reserves. The costs are accumulated in cost centers
by well, field, or exploration area pending determination of technical
feasibility and commercial viability.

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resource is considered to be determined when proved reserves are
determined to exist. A review of each exploration license or field is
carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proved reserves have
been discovered.

BHREFEEEREERNEANBBE
EPTEERFE DR E RN E
KA AFEECRBRFEHEPHRH
B AERAERMI mARHRRSE
RERARLRE  FEERMEEEAT
o

EEETFERARER  RREEZERY
BMERAFRATEERREETE - 248
FHEYWRFAEIDAETRE - ER
EERCERRAHE -

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAET

Net book value BREFE
At 1 January m—H—H 393,344 314,013
Currency realignment BEAR 27,211 (23,792)
Additions NE 44,406 113,708
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(b)) &R E AR (KisE34(0b)) - (1,998)
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) FEE (FizE9) (8,503) (8,587)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 456,458 393,344
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Other
intangible
Goodwiill assets Total
mE HitEmpEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2016 R=-B—-AE—H—H
Cost D% 1,019,653 41,751 1,061,404
Accumulated amortisation R - (5,728) (5,728)
Net book value BREFE 1,019,653 36,023 1,055,676
Year ended 31 December 2016 #HE—-ZT—AF
+ZA=+—HIEFE
At 1 January 2016 R_E—RF—H—H 1,019,653 36,023 1,055,676
Currency realignment EE TR (25,753) (3,947) (29,700)
Additions NE — 1,154 1,154
Disposal of a subsidiary HeE—fHB AR
(Note 34(b)) (FI7E34(b)) (22,154) - (22,154)
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) G Pu#EsH (Bf7£9) = (2,685) (2,685)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RE+=A=+—H 971,746 30,545 1,002,291
As at 31 December 2016 R-ZEB—XR"F+=ZA=+—H
Cost B AR 971,746 38,958 1,010,704
Accumulated amortisation RET S = (8,413) (8,413)
Net book value BRTESHAE 971,746 30,545 1,002,291
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE=-ZT—+4&
+ZA=1+—HLFE
At 1 January 2017 R_ZE—+F—HA—H 971,746 30,545 1,002,291
Currency realignment BERE 25,753 2,105 27,858
Additions NE - 7,696 7,696
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) G AI#E# (FH7E9) - (2,521) (2,521)
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+=A=+—H 997,499 37,825 1,035,324
As at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—tF+=-A=+—H
Cost B 997,499 48,586 1,046,085
Accumulated amortisation BEETEH - (10,761) (10,761)
Net book value BRESE 997,499 37,825 1,035,324
20175F 53R
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Note:

Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGUs identified for sales and distribution
of natural gas and other related products business, which is also an operating
segment, representing the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is determined from value in use
calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling
prices and direct costs during the year. Management estimates a discount rate of
13.4% (2016: 11.5%) using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to this group of CGUs. The
growth rate of 3.0% (2016: 3.0%) for the next five years are based on industry
growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The value in use calculations is derived from cash flow projections based on the
most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved by management.
Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been extrapolated using growth rates of
2.6% (2016: 3.0%) per annum, which is based on industry growth forecasts. The
Board considered no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2017.

In sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products business, the
recoverable amount calculated based on value in use exceeded carrying value by
HK$1,587,584,000 (2016: HK$1,431,395,000).

Since the carrying amounts of the CGUs are not sensitive to the changes in
assumption, no sensitivity analysis is disclosed.
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The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

RERE

(continued) (#)

MBI RIER 2 2T

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FAT
Associates ik l/NE 296,732 273,444
Joint venture SR 24,435 26,621
At 31 December W+ZA=+—8H 321,167 300,065
The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are as RireiEmRER L ELT
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—XF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FAT
Associates il /N 1,330 139
Joint venture SR (3.686) (15,790)
For the year ended 31 December HE+_A=+—RHIFE (2,356) (15,651)
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Nature of investments in associates, which are unlisted limited liability
companies, as at 31 December 2017:

M-E—+E+-A=+—0 RBEEA
FA(BELTEARAR)REZLE -

Percentage of

Country of Principal interest held
Name Registered capital establishment activities indirectly
HEEEER
=1 &R R 2 B FEER ADtt
5 HRPEER RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
BRAR AR 20,000,000 7T I AAREE
(MZR¥EeIR 1)
Sino Director Limited UsS$10,000 BVI Investment holding 25%
10,000 37T EEERRAES BB
BaEPHBRER RMB 1,000,000 PRC Provision of IT services 50%
BT AR AE AR ¥ 1,000,0007T Y TRELIT AR5
TERLERARBR2AT  RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 20%

AER¥ 80,000,000 7T A

As at 31 December 2017, the Group invested HK$257,250,000 in
Sino Director Limited with 25% equity interests as an associate. The
subsidiary of Sino Director Limited is the beneficial owner of the mining
rights granted by the local government authority of the PRC. Sino
Director Limited and its subsidiaries are collectively regarded as the
“Sino Director Group”.

A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of the
Sino Director Group. The recoverable amount is determined based on
fair value less costs of disposal using discounted cash flow method. The
key assumptions are discount rates, forecasted production volume and
forecasted commodity prices. Management estimates a discount rate of
11.2% (2016: 12.8%) using a pre-tax rates that reflects current market
assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the Sino
Director Group.
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The commodity price growth rate of 3.0% (2016: 3.0%) used in
the calculations is based on inflation growth forecasts. The Board
considered no impairment loss on the Group’s total investment in
associate is necessary as at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group determined that the recoverable
amount of the Sino Director Group amounting to approximately
HK$586,250,000 (2016: HK$593,775,000) exceeded its carrying
value amounting to approximately HK$257,250,000 (2016:
HK$257,250,000).

The recoverable amount of the investment in Sino Director Limited
would equal its carrying amount if (1) the commodity price growth
rate decreased to -2.9%, (2) the estimated future production volume
dropped by 74.8%; or (3) the pre-tax discount rate increased to 21%.
Management has considered and assessed reasonably possible changes
for other key assumptions and not identified any instances that could
cause the carrying amount of the investment in Sino Director Limited to
exceed its recoverable amount.

None of these entities are currently considered material to the Group.
The aggregated summarised financial information for associates which
accounted for using the equity method was (1) total assets amounting
to HK$1,327,939,000 (2016: HK$968,046,000); (2) total liabilities
amounting to HK$968,098,000 (2016: HK$734,256,000); (3) total
revenue amounting to HK$48,594,000 (2016: HK$61,616,000); and (4)
total profit for the year amounting to HK$3,804,000 (2016: loss for the
year amounting to HK$1,398,000).

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in
the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(continued) (#&)

20 Investments accounted for using the equity 20 ERAEREARZKRE (/&)
method (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture REELEER
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHT
Share of net assets: FEIEEEFE -
At 1 January R—HA—H 26,621 42,846
Currency realignment R 1,500 (435)
Share of loss of a joint venture Bl —HesEtEEE (3,686) (15,790)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 24,435 26,621
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Nature of investment in a joint venture, which is an unlisted limited
liability company, as at 31 December 2017:

(continued) (#)

RZB—tF+-A=+—H REED
¥ (RMERRAR)REZIEE :

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal activities indirectly
BEsEEs
=L EfER o RvAA=ES FTEREY Bk
L 77 D A S P RMB 100,000,000 PRC Trading of coalbed methane ~ 35%
BRAR AR ¥ 100,000,000 KEREER

The joint venture is currently considered not material to the Group.
The summarised financial information for the joint venture which
accounted for using the equity method was (1) assets amounting to
HK$531,483,000 (2016: HK$445,714,000); (2) liabilities amounting to
HK$464,881,000 (2016: HK$369,654,000); (3) revenue amounting to
HK$113,856,000 (2016: HK$131,818,000); and (4) loss for the year
amounting to HK$10,531,000 (2016: HK$45,114,000).

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interest in the
joint venture.

ERMEZSAE P ERRAREEBEEBE
Re FREREARNEGECENBER
Bt B(1)& E £531,483,0008 L ( = F
— 7N £F 1 445,714,000 7T ) QB & A
464,881,000 7L( =ZF— /N4 © 369,654,000
BIL) - (3)& %585 113,856,000 T (=&
—75%F 131,818,000 7T) © K (4)F A EE
410,531,000/ 87L(ZZ—7<4F : 45,114,000
I °

THEEEERGECXEZAEBMIHAAER
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2017 2016
—E2—tfF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Equity securities: RAFES
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB T 118,961 2
— listed in Hong Kong —&BALEM 17,772 916
Debt securities: BEES
— listed in Hong Kong —&BLEm 89,476 576,713
— listed outside Hong Kong —BAUINETE 369,701 60,249
- unlisted —JELET 450 382
596,360 638,262

At the date of the statement of financial position, all the listed equity
and debt securities are stated at fair values.

The carrying amounts of the available-for-sale financial assets are
denominated in the following currencies:

RAMBIREK A - AB LW RARE

BEFEHURFETR -

AHEEMNBEERBENATERHE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
us$ e 469,879 555,743
Others HAh 126,481 82,519
596,360 638,262
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the statement of financial REBRKARBBzEaEERRAED B

position date is the carrying value of the debt securities classified as
available-for-sale.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the available-for-sale financial assets

are pledged as a security for the Group’s unutilised banking facilities
(Note 35).
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(continued) (#)

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET FET

Raw materials R 105,078 36,376
Work-in-progress fEREIRE 69,226 90,521
Finished goods and natural gas Bk i RARAR 70,134 63,676
244,438 190,573

2017 2016

—E—+HF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Trade receivables (Note (b)) E 5 U BR R (KI5 (b)) 784,363 796,330
Loan to an associate (Note (c)) BERFEE QT () 637,251 479,062
Loans to third parties (Note (d)) BEXRFTE=7 (BIEd)) 24,000 53,852
1,445,614 1,329,244

Prepaid construction costs TETRERR A AR 108,341 158,625

Prepayment for acquisition of W + s s TR 3K

land use rights 35,003 61,524
Prepaid natural gas costs FE RAR A A 258,733 145,413
Prepaid material and equipment costs ~ FBAS A N 2&E R A 182,263 127,159
Interest receivables FEUFILE 215,594 183,345
Other prepayments HATBMR 109,787 90,240
Other receivables H A EUGR 198,162 213,600
2,553,497 2,309,150
Less: Non-current portion B FERENER S (956,763) (792,258)
Current portion BN 1,596,734 1,516,892
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Notes:

(a)

The Board considers that the carrying amounts of deposits, trade and other
receivables approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

At each date of the statement of financial position, the Group’s allowance
for impairment of trade receivables will individually be determined based
on the credit history of its customers, such as financial difficulties or
default in payments, and current market conditions. Consequently, specific
impairment allowance will be recognised.

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 60 to 90 days to
its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding trade receivables.
Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior management of the
Group.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

HRTEFELITER EERRBR &
T BHREMERFAREEELR
FERE -

REBEFERIKRAE  SEE S ERER

FRERBBREETPOERESL (M
SR B sl e R AT ) RIRTT T 5 6 1B Bl
E o Bt - BRERREEE -

SEETESEP 2 FHEERANF60R
Z90H M - WATEEEAMARERY
BHREER  SESREEECHEN
BERE -

REREASNOE S EEERZ ERDT
T -

2017 2016

—2—+tF T —RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FHETT

Up to 3 months =18 HLAR 730,625 712,716
3 to 6 months =@EAZENEA 30,363 25,333
Over 6 months NMEA M E 23,375 58,281
Total a5t 784,363 796,330

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of approximately
HK$53,738,000 (2016: HK$83,614,000) that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent customers for whom there
is no recent history of default. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in their credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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Notes: (Continued)

()

On 23 September 2011, the Group entered into a loan agreement for
the construction of assets with Sino Director Limited, an associate, with
interest bearing at 6.2% per annum. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
loan to Sino Director Limited amounted to approximately HK$637,251,000
(2016: HK$479,062,000). The outstanding interest amounted to
approximately HK$198,713,000 (2016: HK$157,815,000) with interest
bearing at 6.8% per annum and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the interest income arising from
this arrangement amounted to HK$40,898,000 (2016: HK$36,513,000)
(Note 10).

Loans to third parties comprised of the followings:

On 1 December 2015, the Group entered into a three year loan agreement
with a third party amounting to RMB25,000,000. As at 31 December
2016, the balance was approximately RMB28,000,000 (approximately
HK$31,452,000). It is unsecured, interest bearing at 8.0% per annum.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the balance has been fully
settled.

The remaining balance represented a loan to another third party to support
the third party’s acquisition of natural gas friendly vehicles. The loan to
the third party is unsecured, interest bearing at 4.0% per annum and
repayable annually in three equal installments by 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the interest income arising from
these loans to third parties amounted to approximately HK$921,000
(2016: HK$3,304,000) (Note 10).

MiaE

(0

(continued) (#)

(%)

RZE——FNAZ+=0 £EEKEY
A T]Sino Director Limitedz] 32 Bk #73:% (8
MEERR)  1K6.2% 2 FHEH S o B
—E—+tF+=-_A=+—H " £@EM@Sino
Director Limited §5X#%7637,251,0007&7C
(ZZ— 754 : 479,062,000/ L) ° K&
B4 5198,713,0008 7T (Z B — /N4 -
157,815,000 7T) * FF XK 56.8% KAR

EREE -

HE-_T—+F+-_A=+—HLEFE"
ﬁtlﬁﬂ#rﬂiﬂ B A 540,898,000 T (=
T— X4 36,513,000 7T) (FFEE10) ©

ERTE=FBETIER:

R-T—FF+-_A—0 £EE—FZF
7T & BB AR 25,000,000 T H) = ¢
HERBE R —A"F+_A=1+—
H- 8% %E4 5 AR 280000007 (4
31,452,000 L) - ERBEEA - 2 F
FEB8O%ETE - REZE-_ZT—+tF+_A
=+—BILFE  BBECBREES -

BRTIHRBERER TS —RE=FUEZE
ZTBERARER - ZRHE=JERT
AR REMNEL0% A RIER TN
FH—A=1+—RANAEF—H H=HE
b

BE_T—tF+_H=1—BLEFE B

=HEREENFBIAL A 921,000 T
(ZZ—/X4 © 3,304,000587C) (3£ 10) -
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()  The carrying amounts of the deposits, trade and other receivables are

(e) & BEHREMEREZREENL

denominated in the following currencies: TE®E :
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET T
Renminbi AR 2,427,060 2,201,565
CAD i 48,140 42,088
Others A 78,297 65,497
2,553,497 2,309,150
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T THT

Debt securities: BB ES

— listed outside Hong Kong — BB T 20,822 20,029
— unlisted —3JEET 28,020 27,419
48,842 47,448

The carrying amounts of the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are denominated in US$.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the statement of financial
position date is the carrying value of debt securities classified as

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are pledged as a
security for the Group's unutilised banking facilities (Note 35).
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(continued) (#)

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERS 2,299,083 1,787,576
Short-term bank deposits RAERITER 39,895 71,077
2,338,978 1,858,653
Less: Time deposits with maturity B FRAEE=EAR
over three months TE BT 3K (48,531) (25,170)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReFEER 2,290,447 1,833,483
The interest rates for short-term bank deposits was approximately from RHBROTERNEMNENFO15%F
1.5% to 1.95% (2016: 1.1% to 3.9%) per annum. The deposits have a 1.95% (ZZFE—R"F:1.1%£3.9%) ° 17
maturity of ranging from 90 to 365 days. FEANFI0HE365H
Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are amounts of RITIFH - RITHAESRKRIR£492,311,901,000
approximately HK$2,311,901,000 or RMB1,926,584,000 (2016: BT AREE 1,926,584,000 7T( =T — /<4 ¢
HK$1,558,078,000 or RMB1,391,141,000) denominated in Renminbi 1,558,078,000/% 7t 2k A & ¥ 1,391,141,000
which are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion TL) YA RBEEGHE - WER A B A AR
of these Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and 17 - ZEARBHEER L BEINE RiEH
the remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules B 1A 1 B & B 7B 38 ST AR B AT AR A A SN E
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC EEMREHE -
Government.
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The carrying amounts of the time deposits, bank balances and cash are

denominated in the following currencies:

ERGFR  RITERRBRSZEEEAT

FIEHEHE ¢

2017 2016

—E2—+F ZE—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAxT

Renminbi ARK 2,313,282 1,560,786

us$ EH 17,438 174,993

HK$ BT 7,667 122,337

Others EAh 591 537

2,338,978 1,858,653

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Trade payables B S REMNER 447,956 570,343

Consideration payables FERIRE 6,000 18,000

Construction cost payables JESIRER A AN 415,775 286,823

Interest payable FERTFI B 59,775 47,284
Dividends payable to FERTIEHE AR

non-controlling interests AR S 125,828 114,387

Salaries payables ANE 15,540 12,819

Other taxes payable Hh eI 18 11,294 48,510

Other payables and accruals E i RN RRIE R e AT B 349,565 229,581

1,431,733 1,327,747
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The Board considers that the carrying amounts of trade and other
payables approximate their fair values.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:

(continued) (#)

EXRAR EZRHEMENKBAZER

BEEEQNTERS -

REBZZAHNEZHEMNERRZKE DT

m -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —TE—REF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Up to 3 months =EANRA 358,365 470,508
3 to 6 months =EAZNKMEA 40,316 37,871
Over 6 months NERALAE 49,275 61,964
Total A&t 447,956 570,343

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are denominated in

B o5 LEMENFRBENREENTIEE

the following currencies: =HE :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —EREF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHET T
Renminbi AR 1,300,293 1,201,994
HK$ BT 52,041 53,567
CAD nc 79,399 72,186
1,431,733 1,327,747
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2017 2016
—=E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Receipt in advance for sales of HERAR R EMABEER 2
natural gas and other related T ERIA
products 1,366,236 1,040,468
Receipt in advance for connections MRE BER 2 B HIE
of gas pipelines 217,767 115,727
1,584,003 1,156,195
As at 31 December 2017, included in receipt in advance for sales R-TE—+FE+—-—A=+—H " HEXRK
of natural gas was the amount received from customers using SNERZEABREERFERI/ICKRER
I/C cards amounting to approximately HK$883,205,000 (2016: B3R IE 49 883,205,000 B T ( Z & — N ¢
HK$637,431,000), in which the movements are as follows: 637,431,000/ 70 ) » W KB 2 & &M
™~
2017 2016
—B—+tF NS
HK$000 HK$°000
THET THETT
At 1 January m—HA—H 637,431 606,255
Currency realignment B 52,372 (48,186)
Payments received in advance SAGELE O] 4,154,799 3,178,678
Redemption during the year FRHEMD (3,961,397) (3,099,316)
At 31 December R+ZRA=+—H 883,205 637,431
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2017 2016
B+t —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Bank borrowings, unsecured IRITIEE — EIKA 653,258 263,872
Other borrowings, unsecured HibfgE — mEHR 96,000 97,035
749,258 360,907

Less: amounts due within one year B DEARBAR
classified under current liabilities R—FARH 2 58 (689,258) (360,907)
Non-current portion E eI ) 60,000 =

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the

EENEREENTIE

BEtE - WEAT3

following currencies and carried at the following interest rates: 251 B
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Renminbi AR 492,000 125,036
CAD byt 257,258 235,871
749,258 360,907
At fixed rates Eilablk 354,000 125,036
At floating rates TFE)F R 395,258 235,871
749,258 360,907
Weighted average effective interest INEFHERFF =R
rates (per annum):
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.3% 5.7%
— Other borrowings —HiEE 6.4% 42%
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2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&T FET

US$ denominated senior notes LAZETTRHEZ BERE 4,970,240 5,006,417

On 25 April 2013, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,713,000,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes A”), which bear interest at 5.25%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$344,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,666,000,000). The
Senior Notes A will mature on 25 April 2018 and are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

On 11 November 2014, the Company issued another senior notes,
with an aggregate nominal value of US$300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,325,000,000) at par value (the “Senior Notes B"”), which bear
interest at 5.00% per annum and the interest is payable semiannually
in arrears. The net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$296,900,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,300,975,000). The Senior Notes B will mature on 7 May 2020
and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

On 11 April 2017, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,712,500,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes C"), which bear interest at 4.625%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$346,556,000 (equivalent to HK$2,685,809,000). The
Senior Note C will mature on 20 April 2022 and are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

On 21 May 2017, the Company redeemed in full the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of US$350,000,000 of Senior Notes A
before their maturity at a total redemption price of US$354,594,000
(equivalent to HK$2,748,104,000), representing 101.3125% of the
principal amount, by using the net proceeds from the offering of Senior
Notes C.
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R-ZE—=FmWA-+HE " ARIKEE
%% 17 BR M 42 {E /5 350,000,000 T (B &
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Eme

R-ZZE—NFE+—A+—8  QARAEE
2% 17 BR T 48 {E /5 300,000,000 T (&
7 2,325,000,000/8 7T ) B B HMB 5 E B
([BEZEHEB])  REF5.00%: 28 H
BE¥FEIN - HBREERTEREBZM
B TE R EE A #9296,900,000 X 7T (HHER
2,300,975,000/87T) - BAEREBER=F
ZEFRAACAEEBRNE BB L .

RZFE—+tFMNA+—H  ARREAEE
2% 17 BR T 4 {E /5 350,000,000 7T (B &
72,712,500,000%8 7T ) M B EEE(E
EEEC]) BMEFL4625%:tBE BF 8
B¥FIN HBKREEBRTEARZAE
7B F %8 5 #49346,556,000 3 7T (1 E R
2,685,809,0007T) « BAEKRCKR=F
WA+ RIBENRE BB AT L

o

M o

RZEBE—+ERA-+—8  27R3
HANERSREEEEERCHMBIE
FRHEEHELRELEBAREELASHESE
350,000,000 7T + 42 f& 6] {& 354,594,000
ET(HBEM2,748,104,000/87T) » AARE
FE101.3125% ©



As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of the senior notes amounted
to approximately HK$5,082,411,000 (2016: HK$5,106,281,000). The
effective interest is 5.20% (2016: 5.46%). The fair value of the senior
notes traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the date of the statement of financial position. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The senior notes are
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under
the liability method using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same fiscal
authority.

(continued) (#)

R-ZE—+tF+_A=+—"H BLEZE
2 N 1E % 55082,411,0008 T ( =&
— 7N % 1 5,106,281,0005 7T ) ° & B F
T AB520%( ZF — N F 1 5.46%) c
RWERMSEBEZEBLEZEBEZ ATFER
B BRREBZMERETE - JIE
BTSRRI RSN FHRLZH - &
B LR ATTEEE - MERFHA
EHERSHRE2ME  MEMNRERE
KEETZEBRNITMBERS2ERLEE
| ZEEBAERBWINARTEE—ER -

BIEFMEREAABEEIRER ZRRUG
MAXEHCBEAKEERMZHEREH
EAAEANNTEMNAKE MR AEEER
EMRBRERE  MEEMEHERR
— KRR - RIA RS HE E R
BEHEH -

2017 2016
—E—+F —T—REF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Deferred tax assets EEFTISTHEE (4,796) (19,510)
Deferred tax liabilities FEFSHAE 260,359 240,801
Deferred tax liabilities (net) B EE(CFE8E) 255,563 221,291
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The net movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows: BEFSTHRE 2 SB)FRMT
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZT—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January ®n—A—H 221,291 214,965
Currency realignment B 13,294 8,478
Charged/(credited) to consolidated PERA BRI (GTA)
profit and loss (Note 13) (FfzE13) 20,978 (2,152)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~ 255,563 221,291
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to FRRIEFMSHEE KB E (RE—HBA
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the ERER 7 AEEAIRIERT) 2 #EN T
year are as follows:
Asset retirement obligation Tax losses Total
BEREAE HEFR &3t
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
“E-tf T ZE-tF C—EXF ZB-tfF —Tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#En T T#En T T#En T
At 1 January n—HA—8 (29,354) (26,550) (94,135) (39,419) (123,489) (65,969)
Credited to consolidated SARAER
profit or loss (4,121) (1,888) (4,782) (50,440) (8,903) (52,328)
Currency alignment Lk (1,711) (916) (4,155) (4,276) (5,866) (5,192)
At 31 December w+=-A=1-H (35,186) (29,354) (103,072) (94,135) (138,258) (123,489)
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Accelerated tax depreciation

(continued) (#)

and depletion Others Total

MEB R ERIEH Aft ait
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Bt 2 RE ZBE-t§ C—EF B-tf 2 E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATL TR THTL TR TATL
At 1 January ®—R—H 309,226 249,856 35,554 31,078 344,780 280,934
Charged to consolidated profit or loss SAREER 29,881 45,460 - 4716 29,881 50,176
Currency alignment BHE 19,147 13,910 13 (240) 19,160 13,670
At 31 December W+ZA=1-H 358,254 309,226 35,567 35,554 393,821 344,780

During 2017, deferred income tax liabilities to the extent of
approximately HK$2,496,000 (2016: HK$1,240,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries because
the Board considers that the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Unremitted earnings totaled approximately HK$1,472,230,000 (2016:
HK$1,160,467,000) as at 31 December 2017 and HK$7,396,000
(2016: HK$7,396,000) has been recognised as deferred tax liability for
the withholding tax.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
had unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$108,963,000 (2016:
HK$76,424,000) to carry forward against future taxable income. All the
tax losses will be expired within the next 5 years.

RZE—tF BEEMBSHAGBY
2,496,000/ 7L ( = & — /X ¢ 1,240,000
L) WERRABTENH R EMFIE - 1t
HREARIHEELHNBRARIZRELR
F:AAEERRABD TR EZREE A
SEEHBELRERE=EAAEBIEER
BARKED - R_FT—tF+_A=+—
H - RELZFE*LAE1,472,230,000 %
T(=ZT— /N4 :1,160,467,0007%8 7T ) &
7,396,000 T(=ZZF—7<4 : 7,396,000%
TC) ERFERNRERRBELERIEAE -

BEMBSMAEENEENRENEZER
ARARERBABFNERA LR A
MEEBEBEAEmMER R —tF
+ZA=+—H KEZABRHRES
18 49108,963,000/%8 ;L( = & — /N F ¢
76,424,000 75 7T ) DA #5588 £ oK 2R FE AR B U A
i - TARBEBEBEN TERFERER
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The movements in assets retirement obligation are as below:

BERBAEZZBHNT

2017 2016

—Z2—+tF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THExT FAET

At 1 January n—A—8 108,723 98,326

Currency realignment B 2,619 3,400

Acquisition of businesses (Note 33) WBE 275 (M13E33) - 4,065

Accretion (Note 10) wn (L 10) 2,611 2,295

Site restoration expenditure B IRIE S (7,507) (8,207)

Change in estimates and discount rate &5t K 73R K& B) 16,084 =

Provision for the year FEE 7,781 8,844

At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 130,311 108,723
Note: sk -

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in Canada, the Group is
obliged to accrue the cost for land reclamation and site closures for the Group’s
ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well sites and gathering
systems. The provision for asset retirement obligation has been determined by
the directors based on their best estimates in accordance with the relevant rules
and regulations.
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Number of
shares Amount
RHEE X
‘000 HK$'000
T8 FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FR0.01 BT BB
Authorised shares SEERRD
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, RZ-ZT— F—H—H -
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 —Z—XF+-_A=+—H "
—T—+tF-HA-HK
—E—+tF+=A=1+—H 125,000,000 1,250,000
Issued and fully paid BEITREE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, WK-Z—XF—H—H
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 —ZT— X XE+-A=+—8"
—T—+F-HA-HEK
—E—+tF+=A=1+—H 5,825,684 58,257

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders on
23 November 2011.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
offer options to any eligible participant who is an employee,
executive or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its
subsidiaries) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers who
will provide or have provided services to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 10% of the issued
shares of the Company from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in any 12
month-period shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares in
issue on the date of offer of an option.

REREAR=F——E+—A=+=
BB AME - AARMMB R
£ (PR 8))) -

REBREFTE EZRANGBRE
BRETENAER2EE - R ERK
2EER/NBXEMNBRARZEE
TBRABRSHBE (BFE A REHK
BRRZAITRIFAITES) - URE
G A A YU R ) ==R/NC e
R 2 frEm - BHREEM SRR o

RIBRE AR 8 R R A BB it B4R
HeBEE s R 2BRHBE ERAR
AR 2 B BTN Z10% °

RER+—EARE SLaEKR2
HEZREELRINSBABRERS
ZBHEEBBETRNEBEZ1% -
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The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days
after the date of the offer, with a consideration of HK$1 for the
grant thereof. Exercise period in respect of the options granted
shall be determined by the Board and in any event such period
of time shall not exceed a period of 10 years commencing on
the date upon which such option is deemed to be granted and
accepted.

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an eligible
participant under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event shall
not be less than the highest of: (a) the official closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of an option; (b) the average
of the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of an option; and (c) the
nominal value of a share.

The Share Option Scheme was valid for 10 years from 23
November 2011.

On 22 January 2016, in order to motivate and reward the
Company’s staff, the Company had granted to certain eligible
participants of the Company share options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in share capital of the Company. The share options shall be
exercisable in the following periods:

- 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January
2018;

—  30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January
2019; and

—  the remaining share options are exercisable on 22 January
2020
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(i)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of the () HRENZE RIEFEHTERE
share options are as follows: M
2017 2016
—Z2—+tF —EREF

Exercise = Number of Exercise Number of

price option price option

HKS$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000

BB RR e fEARE

TEE A TE(E EgE|

BT T4 BT T1n

Outstanding at 1 January W—A—BEERITE 0.46 100,000 = =

Granted during the year FARDY - - 0.46 100,000

Outstanding at 31 December R+—=HA=+—H
HARITE 0.46 100,000 0.46 100,000
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(i)  The following table discloses details of the Company’s share

options held by employees as at 31 December 2017:

(i) TREBERENRBE_T—LF
ToRA=t+—RHIEFEMFHAR

TEAHE 2 515
Outstanding
Exercise at
price per Exercise 31 December
Date of grant share period 2017
RZB—+tF
(=34 +=A=+—8H
RHEH TEE TR i RAT6E
HK$
BT
Employees 22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2016 to 22 January 2019 30,000
(== —E-RFE-AZ+=H —E-RF-AZt+=ZHZE
—T-NF-AZ+=H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2016 to 22 January 2020 30,000
—Z—R"F—-A=+=H —Z-R"F-A=t+=ZHZ
—T_TF-A=+=H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2016 to 22 January 2021 40,000
—E—RF-A=t+=H —T-RF-A=-+ZHE
T —%—A=-+=H
Total “ast
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The fair value of the options granted during the year ended 31
December 2016 determined using the binomial option pricing
model was approximately HK$0.127, HK$0.148 and HK$0.171
per share respectively. The significant inputs into the model were
share price of HK$0.455 as at the grant date, exercise price
as shown above, volatility of 40.99%, 40.97% and 42.56%,
expected life of options of eight, seven and six years, and
annual risk-free interest rate of 0.993%, 1.056% and 1.184%
respectively. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns is based on the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over a period of eight, seven and six
years before the date when the options were granted.

On 4 November 2011, the Board approved the adoption of a
share award scheme (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”) with
the objective to recognise the contributions by eligible employees
within the Group and to give incentives in order to retain them
for their continuing operation and development and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of (i) shares
subscribed for or purchased by the Company and delivered to the
Trustee appointed by the Company (Note 39(c)) subsequently; or
(i) the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the Company
out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee and be held on trust
for the relevant eligible grantees until such shares are vested with
the relevant eligible grantees in accordance with the Scheme
Rules (“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the Restricted
Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
Rules including providing necessary funds to the Trustee to
purchase or subscribe for shares up to 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

(continued) (#)

FAZEXNHETEEN  REEZ
T-—RE+_A=+—HLEEEERH
HNEREEETEATES NOEER
0.12777C ~ 0.1488T X% 0.171787T °
AR AMERNERANE L B
2 4fE0.455 87T « ERATRITEE
2 Bl A40.99% - 40.97% K% 42.56%
ZEE - BRESIANANE  £FER
NEZTEETFAIA KR S 5 A0.993% -
1.056% [ 1.184% 2 R F &= o %
TEHARR (B Bl AR EZ 5T 2 MK 18 D
EERDRRBRERDBHZIIN
F A F RN G AR 2 SRR o

R-ZF——F+—AMA  BFR/C
e/ PR — IR AR AT & (PR 1
D REE D IEARBIUEFERS
EREEZRR  REERERKER
ERAMBARERE  AEEE—
TERBANGEAT -

R IR 51 14 A 0 22 B 5t 81 A BE AR A
(TEFERAN D - BB () 2R RE
EBEAEREARTRARERRENIE
A(MEE39(c)) Z Bcfn + (i) A ZFEA
UNARBRAES RN TFEEA
ZRERABIBESREBLAER
ARG ARG 2B (TR
D)) EEZEFRMDREER
ARBR AR ERARARLE - &
=Y RIBET B A E MR B 1A
REE BERAXTARERTE
T MBARRBBRZHEARTRZ
BEEITIRA10% 2K °
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Under the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted Shares
are granted to eligible employees of the Company or any one
of its subsidiaries for no consideration but subject to certain
conditions (including but not limited to, lock-up period) to be
decided by the Board at the time of grant of the Restricted Shares
under the Restricted Share Award Scheme. The Restricted Share
Award Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
adoption.

The Restricted Share Award Scheme operates in parallel with
the Share Option Scheme. All options granted under the Share
Option Scheme continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select the eligible grantees after
taking into account various factors as they deem appropriate for
participation in the Restricted Share Award Scheme as a grantee
and determines the number of Restricted Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the purchase price and
the related expenses from the Company’s resources for the shares
to be purchased by the Trustee.

The Trustee shall hold such Restricted Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the relevant eligible
grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the Board
at the time of making the award and become entitled to the
Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the relevant Restricted
Shares to that grantee.

For awardees who cease employment with the Group before
vesting, the unvested shares are forfeited. The forfeited shares
are held by the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
who may award such shares to the awardees as instructed by the
Board.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, 1,680,000 (2016:
1,980,000) restricted shares have been awarded to the directors
and employees for their services rendered to the Group, and all of

them are immediately vested.

Details of the Awarded Shares awarded during the year

For the year ended 31 December 2017:

(continued) (#)

HE_Z—tF+-RA=+—HILHF
E EREZTRESREEREMNR
7 42 ) 1,680,000 ( — T — N & ¢
1,980,000 fix) R &l 14 Ak 0 T % - A
P SR BN BRI

FRARHBRROOFEE

HE-_T—tF+-A=+—HILF
J=E3E

Number of Fair value

Date of award shares awarded per share Vesting period
REBH RERGEHE BB AFE SR

HK$

BT
Employees
(==
13 April 2017 1,680,000 0.59 Vested immediately on 13 April 2017
—E—+FMA+=H RZE—+FOA+=RARES
For the year ended 31 December 2016: BE_Z—R"F+-_A=+—HLIHF

E
Number of Fair value

Date of award shares awarded per share Vesting period
RHBH RHEBRHHE BRHBAFE HEH

HK$

AT
Directors of the Company
NRAEES
12 May 2016 900,000 0.54 Vested immediately on 12 May 2016
—E-RNFERAA+=H RZZ—RFRA+ ARG
Employees
==
21 April 2016 1,080,000 0.55 Vested immediately on 21 April 2016

—E-ARFMHA=+—H

RIE—A"FHA-+—AREE
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Details of the Awarded Shares awarded during the year
(Continued)

Movement in the number of shares awarded for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

FRRURBRAD 2FHE (H)

EREBROBARBE_FT—+FR
SE-AFETZAST-ALFEZ
2T

Number of Awarded Shares

REBRAHA
2017 2016
—E—+tfF NG
Outstanding at 1 January R—A—BERITE 1,520,000 2,050,000
Awarded BEH 1,680,000 1,980,000
Vested [ (1,680,000) (2,510,000)
Outstanding at 31 December R+ A=+—HBrEKR{TE 1,520,000 1,520,000

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Trustee acquired
under the Award Scheme 181,260,000 (2016: 57,340,000)
ordinary shares of the Company through purchases on the
open market with a price range of HK$0.52 (2016:HK$0.46)
to HK$0.83 (2016: HK$0.59) per share at a total cost
(including related transaction costs) of HK$104,257,000 (2016:
HK$31,875,000) which was credited to shares held for share
award scheme account of the Company as an equity component
of the Company. As at 31 December 2017, the total number of
shares in the reserve was 817,209,221 (2016: 637,629,221).

Annual Report 2017
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Effective from 9 August 2016, the Group acquired 100% interests in
Baytex Energy Partnership (“Baytex”) from an independent third party
at a consideration of CAD7,471,000 (approximately HK$44,079,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the above acquisition was
completed and the Group commenced to account for the business
combination from the effective date when the Group gained control
over Baytex. On the date of acquisition agreement, no license was
obtained by Baytex for some of the completed oil and gas properties.
Therefore, no consideration and value were assigned to these
properties. At the effective acquisition date, the Group applied a license
for the properties with the government and used in production. The
gain on bargain purchase amounted to approximately HK$10,803,000
was attributable to these properties. Details of net assets acquired and
gain on bargain purchase are as follows:

(continued) (#)

BE-Z— X "FENANBR £EH
—Z B/ E = H W EBaytex Energy
Partnership ([Baytex|) K& #3BA#E
##x KRB A7,471,00000 7t ( 4
44,079,000/ 7T) - REAZE=ZZT — X
FH+ZA=+—HLFE - Ll
FHEETHKASEE SN A (AIEE
IS ¥ Baytex MO HIRERS ) B IR 15 375
SRR PRI B El - Baytex
WARE FERIAREERSENM
MR- Bt ZEWEEEMAEER
BEE REXKELHS  SEH
ZEMERNBNHABEREARE
E o AZEWEMRSRERE RS
#710,803,0007%8 7T - BB EEFE
REERBREFBET

HK$'000

FHET

Total cash consideration HHRERE 44,079
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets FrUS BB AT Bl & 22 R PR (B Y

acquired and liabilities assumed R

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) M - BB K (i 16) 58,947

Asset retirement obligation (Note 31) BEREASE (HFE31) (4,065)

Total identifiable net assets A FEERE 54,882

Gain on bargain purchase (Note 8) B (e 8) (10,803)

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$5,310,000 and net

BWEBEHE_—_ZT—-XRF+_-A

profit of HK$3,340,000 since the date of acquisition to 31 December
2016, 18 the acquisition has occurred on 1 January 2016, consolidated
pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 2016
would have been HK$7,670,000 and HK$5,310,000 respectively.

=+—H FKEXEBEREXESE
5,310,0007% 7t & 4% 3,340,000 %
T WEEEERZ-_ZE—X~"F—A
—RET BEZT—X~F+=A
Tt HRLFERAEZEEE LR
F5 BlA 7,670,000 7T X 5,310,000
PETT ©
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On 15 March 2017, a subsidiary of the Company, in which 75%
equity interest held by the Company, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with independent third parties, pursuant
to which the independent third parties agreed to purchase,
and the subsidiary agreed to sell its entire 30% equity interests
in an associate total cash consideration of RMB6,000,000
(approximately HK$6,960,000). The transaction was completed on
15 March 2017 resulting in recognition of a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$3,759,000.

On 13 January 2016, a subsidiary of the Company, with 51%
equity interests held by the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to
which the independent third party agreed to purchase, and the
subsidiary agreed to sell its entire 60% equity interests (30.6%
effective interests) in R)IIFBAEHARER AR ("R)IF
") at cash consideration of RMB234,000,000 (approximately
HK$280,800,000).

The Group received the total consideration of RMB234,000,000
(approximately HK$280,800,000) during the year ended 31
December 2016. On 17 March 2016, the Group has completed
the disposal of #R)I|#Jf and recognised a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$124,199,000.
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(b)  The following table summarises the consideration received for the (b) TFEFEBLE L E — BB A E) i Er
disposal of a subsidiary and the amounts of the identifiable assets WREARREERR 2B RS H
and liabilities disposed of at the disposal date: (Continued) AEERBESE : (B)

HK$'000
FExT
Cash consideration received BEWEERE 280,800
Less: Assets and liabilities disposed of: W EHEBERBIE
— Property, plant and equipment o/ ERN S ACT =R
(Note 16) 116,429
— Land use rights (Note 18) — T E R (PH3E 18) 1,998
— Intangible assets (Note 19) — A E (M3 19) 22,154
— Inventories —-FE 23,252
— Deposits, trade and other receivables —%&& B RHMEWFIE 55,253
— Cash and cash equivalents —-ReMREEMBEIER 43,764
— Trade and other payables —E 5 REMERKIE (8,219)
— Receipt in advance —TEGRIR (15,645)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (86,841)
Net asset value BEFE 152,145
Less: Release of exchange reserve upon B R E—EMBARBER
disposal of a subsidiary a5 4,456
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) & —fEKTE A AUk (MizEs) 124,199
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(b)  The following table summarises the consideration received for the (b) TFERBLMEA L E — B A T iR
disposal of a subsidiary and the amounts of the identifiable assets MRENEREERHZE HETH
and liabilities disposed of at the disposal date: (Continued) NEEREESE : (8)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of a ARHE —FHERBARMNEBEIERS
subsidiary is as follows: MEDNTWOT :
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration received BUIRERE 280,800
Less: Cash and cash equivalents included B HE B AR EF AR
in the disposal of a subsidiary ReRALFMEIER (48,020)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents FAKREGRSREMNENR SR
included in cash flows from ReFEERRAFE
investing activities 232,780
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had aggregate banking facilities RZZB—EF+-A=+—8 KEIRTT
of approximately HK$5,080,546,000 (2016: HK$4,660,600,000), of BB 2 RITR A RFHI 5,080,546,00078
which approximately HK$4,427,288,000 (2016: HK$4,360,888,000) 7H5< :Z:‘ —RE 4'669'6@10@73271 )
was unutilised. The Group’s unused banking facilities to the extent A 4'427’288'90%% (=% =
i ) F : 4,360,888,000/8 7T ) M AR B A o &
of HK$775,000,000 (2016: HK$774,999,000) are secured by certain

£ 8775,000,000/8 T ( =& — X F -
774,999,000 T) WERTTREE LA T I 7
BEAEM (MizE215124) -

financial assets (Notes 21 and 24).
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This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net
debt for each of the periods presented.

(continued) (#)

AENE D & PR IR E S F B DT RE

BHEBHES -

Net debt 2017 2016
B EE —E—+HF ZERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREEEEE 2,290,447 1,833,483
Liquid investments (i) MENEE (1) 48,842 47,448
Borrowings — repayable within BE-FER—FREE
one year (689,258) (360,907)
Borrowings — repayable after BE R —FRER
one year (60,000) -
Senior notes — repayable after BERE-ER—FEEER
one year (4,970,240) (5,006,417)
Net debt &% %5 (3.380,209) (3,486,393)
Cash and liquid investments ReRRERE 2,339,289 1,880,931
Gross debt — fixed interest rates B AEEE — EE % (5,324,240) (5,131,453)
Gross debt — variable interest rates EISMEEE — T B (395,258) (235,871)
Net debt (Evye (3,380,209) (3,486,393)
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Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE METHEENEE
Cash and Liquid  Borrowings  Borrowings Senior
cash invest-  due within due after  notes due,
equivalents ments (i) 1 year 1year after 1year Total
BeRHRE R—5Fh R-F%& R-F&3H
SEEE  RBREG) IHNEE AENEE  HELRE @t

HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TiEn TER TER TER TER TiEx

Net debt as at R=ZE-~E-F-H
1 January 2016 ZEXFE 2,303,704 50,271 (972,774) - (4,992,169)  (3,610,968)
Cash flows BEnE (359,253) (3,725) 600,715 - - 237,737
Finance costs HEER - - - - (14,248) (14,248)
Unrealised gain credited to STABEMAERE = 902 = - = 902
profit or loss
Foreign exchange adjustments INEHE (110,968) = 11,152 = = (99,816)
Net debt as at R-E-~E+ZH
31 December 2016 =+-AZEBFE 1,833,483 47,448 (360,907) - (5,006,417)  (3,486,393)
Cash flows Reme 329,654 - (296,866) (57,950 62,295 37,133
Finance costs HBER - - - - (26,118) (26,118)
Unrealised gain credited to SABENAER S - 1,394 - - = 1,394
profit or loss
Foreign exchange adjustments HNE R 127,310 = (31,485) (2,050) = 93,775
Net debt as at R-E-+&£+=4
31 December 2017 =+-RZEBFE 2,290,447 48,842 (689,258) (60,0000  (4,970,240)  (3,380,209)
(i)  Liquid investments comprise current investments that are traded in an (i) FBPRELENERTEHEEENRDR
active market, being the group’s financial assets held at fair value through B EEZATESERARZVBE
profit or loss. E o
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The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 year to 20 years.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

(continued) (#)

SERBEEHELHEAERI DM
DYE - HEMENHEPLERT T
FE20FZEITF -

R-E—+E+-_A=+—0 &£HF
RBETAIRECLEAENHEMHE
REEREMZHABNT ¢

2017 2016
—ZE—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Land and buildings expiring: T 5 HABR B BB - 2th AT -

Within one year —FR 13,831 13,541

After one year but within —FRERFNRN
five years 22,731 28,987
After five years h & 26,923 31,894
63,485 74,422

The Group had the following capital commitments outstanding
not provided for at the date of statement of financial position:

SERMEAMNK BB AT REH
MR BITE AR

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: 2 FT#ME R
Property, plant and equipment L E =Y 199,091 185,818
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As at 31 December 2017, the Company was indirectly owned by Sino
Best International Group Limited (“Sino Best”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) which in turn was wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman and executive
director of the Company, as to approximately 24.5%. The remaining
75.5% of the Company'’s shares were widely held. Mr. Xu Tie-liang and
other directors of the Company are considered to be related as they are
members of the key management personnel of the Company.

The directors of the Company are considered as key management
personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of the
remuneration paid to them are set out in Note 12.
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Percentage of equity

(continued) (#)

Name and kind of legal entity registered capital ~ attributable to the Company  Principal activities
B&fT
R R RAEE, DR
£ RiERRER aMER REFDL TEXH
Directly Indirectly
E# Ef:
Profaith Group Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Uss$1 100.0% - Investment holding
enterprise
REEARES MEEE e RERR
i1
All Praise Investment Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$1 100.0% - Investment holding
enterprise
ERERRAS  INEEE (B RERR
&%
China Oil And Gas Group Limited  BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$1 100.0% - Investment holding
enterprise
KBERRNS IEEE Es RERR
%
China Oil And Gas Management  Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited owned enterprise
R ERERAT BE HEBELE 187 RERR
Alta Financial Holdings Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$1,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
BREHEEERAF REERRNS IEEE 1,0005%7T RERR
%
Zhongda Industrial Group Inc BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$10,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
PAIZEEBRAA RERARES NEBE 10,0007t REER
i
China Oil And Gas Group (Asia) Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited owned enterprise
TR ER (DN ERAR B NEBELE 17T RERR
Hong Kong China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Group Limited owned enterprise
FETAMREEERAT BE HNEBELE 187 REER

20175 F 5K
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(continued) (#&)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name and kind of legal entity registered capital ~ attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BRf
AL RIS BAmEE/ DR
£8 RiEERER AMER REFDL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# i
Accelstar Pacific Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$50,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
HREBARES NEBE 50,0007t REZR
i3
Plentigreat Holdings Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$10,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
EBERRNS IEEE 10,0007t REER
%
Vast China Group Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
RREBRES NEBE (B REER
%
Sino Invent Holdings Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
EEERRNS IEEE (E RERR
%
RERRMAIREEEBRAR  PRC, Wholly foreign-owned RMB1,000,000,000 - 51.0%  Investment holding and trading
("CCNG") enterprise of natural gas
PHPRRRRESEARAT B HEBELE NEE REBRRARREER
(M%) 1,000,000,000 7T
AEHRRARELAR PRC, Limited liability company RMBG65,874,000 = 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas, gas
pipeline construction and
operation of natural gas
stations
HE - ARAERTE AR 65,874,000 70 AAREE  ANREBRE
RARRIEE
ERRNRREERETR PRC, Limited liability company RMB44,000,000 = 40.8%()  Gas pipeline construction
BREEAR
HE - BRELAR AR 44,000,0007C ARREBRE
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Percentage of equity

(continued) (#)

Name and kind of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
B8
AR LB RAEE/ ATIEM
A% RieERER SER REFA TEER
Directly Indirectly
i B
ERRABRAAREE PRC, Limited liability company RMB20,800,000 = 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas
BRAR
PE - FRAELF AR 20,800,000 7T AAREE
AERHEEERAT PRC, Limited liability company RMB900,000 = 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas-related
equipment
HE - BREFAR AR 900,000 RARIEAREEE
B aRRERREAH PRC, Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 30.6%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
e ERETAH ARH100,000,00070 AAREERAARER
B
AN EREERA PRC, Limited liability company RMB50,000,000 - 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
el BREFAR AR 50,000,0007 FARBERAAAEE
Bk
ERPERRBBREANH PRC, Limited liability company RMB25,000,000 = 50.5%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
PE - AREELF ARH 25,000,000 AEREERAARER
e
AR EREERR PRC, Limited liability company RMB45,000,000 - 30.6%()  Natural gas transmission
through pipeline
el BREFAR AR 45,000,0007 EERRRE R
ZMP AR EBREEAH PRC, Limited liability company RMB15,000,000 = 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
hE - EREELF ARH 15,000,000 AAREERAARER
e
B RRRERAR PRC, Limited liability company RMB30,000,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
e - BREEAT ARH30,000,0007C AAREERAARESR
B
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Percentage of equity

Name and kind of legal entity registered capital ~ attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BT
MR R RAEE/ DEIELM
£ RigERER &R REFAL TR
Directly Indirectly
BE i
BRGERRIARATF PRC, Limited liability company RMB12,000,000 = 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas
hE - AREERE AR 12,000,000 RREE
RRREYT (KE) BRAR PRC, Limited liability company RMB75,000,000 = 804%  Transportation services
PE - ARAEAR ARH 75,000,000 Bl
ERTREBRRERAR PRC, Limited liability company RMB20,000,000 - 51.0%  Natural gas transmission
through pipeline
hE - BREEAHA AR 20,000,000 EERRAER
MR REERARBRAT PRC, Limited liability company RMB111,000,000 = 455%()  Gas pipeline design and
construction, natural gas
transmission through
pipeline
HE - BREEAR AR 111,000,0007 RAREBRE RS
EEAARRIA
FEPHRRERELAR PRC, Limited liability company RMB20,000,000 = 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
e FREEAA ARH20,000,00070 AAREERAARERE
i
Rl R (A FT8ERBR AR PRC, Limited liability company RMB71,000,000 - 51.0%  Investment holding
hE - ARAERE ARH 71,000,000 REER
kM RARBRELAR PRC, Limited liability company RMB67,910,000 - 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
hE - BREERT AR 67,910,0007 AAREERAAREE
ik
kT RERARER AR PRC, Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas
e AREEAA AE#2,000,0007 AAREE
RERFMARARBREMLE  PRC, Limited liability company RMB75,000,000 - 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Percentage of equity

(continued) (#)

Name and kind of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
B8
AR LB RAHE ATIEM
A% RieERER SER REBDL TBER
Directly Indirectly
B B
hE - ERELAT ARH 75,000,000 T AAREERAARERE
o3
REF AP REERTERAE  PRC, Limited liability company RMB50,000,000 = 408%()  Gas pipeline design and
construction
HE - BREFAR AR 50,000,0007 RARE B RS
HRZERRERAR PRC, Wholly foreign-owned HK$187,500,000 = 100.0%  Investment holding,
enterprise construction of natural
gas stations and trading of
natural gas
HE - IEEELE 187,500,000 7T RARI - RARIEE
ERAREE
ZEFARRARA PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint RMB18,000,000 - 804%  Trading of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
B RHEERERE AR 18,000,0007 FARBERAARER
e
HHRRREEEER AR PRC, Wholly foreign-owned US$75,000,000 = 100.0%  Investment holding
(AERHRR (BR) R E enterprise
BRAR)
hE - EEELE 75,000,000 7T REER
BERERREREERAT PRC, Limited liability company US$26,981,000 - 100.0%  Provision for finance
hE - BREERT 26,981,000 7T REERE
BN ERERERREAH PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint RMB40,000,000 - 38.8%(i)  Trading of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
hE - RORARELE ARH 40,000,000 T AAREERAARER
o3
BRI IERERR PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint RMB26,000,000 = 60.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
BRAR venture pipeline construction
Tl PAONEEEERE AR 26,000,0007 IARBEERAAAEE
5%5_
20175 3R
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Place of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Percentage of equity

Name and kind of legal entity registered capital ~ attributable to the Company  Principal activities
EBELH
AL BRI RAHE/ DR
£ RiEERER amER REFDL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B i
BETHRREREAAR PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint RMB15,000,000 - 75.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
e PAGERERE AR 15,000,0007 AAREERAARER
e
FETRALT PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint RMB284,400,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
hE - PHRERERE N 284,400,000 7 ARREBERRARER
ey
Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada CAD 141,040,000 - 100.0%  Exploitation and distribution of
crude oil and natural gas
MmeX 141,040,000 17T RERRD ERERARR
Notes: B
(i)  The Group holds controlling interests in these subsidiaries through a (i) SEBEBEBHEBSI0%EZHMNELR

(iii)

51.0% owned subsidiary, CCNG. Therefore the Group has control
over these entities and they are considered as subsidiaries of the
Company.

The Group holds controlling interests in this subsidiary through
CCNG and a wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong China Oil and
Gas Group Limited (“HKCOGG"). Therefore the Group has control
over this entity and it is considered as subsidiary of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities (Continued)

(b)

Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The

e IR R M

(continued) (#)

39 TEMBLARAIRZEHGEEE
BB (&)

(b) TRE#EIIFMFRRAENBEAR (FER
HEEMSBEAZFERER) S
BRERNME THRERB QR EYH

information below is the amount before inter-company RIS
eliminations:
2017 2016
—ZE—tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Total assets BmEE 7,947,199 8,361,900
Total liabilities FE=E (3.705,442) (4,880,836)
Net assets BEFE 4,241,757 3,481,064
Revenue = & 6,268,785 5,126,691
Profit for the year FRE A 425,740 456,831
Other comprehensive gain/(loss)  EAb 2@ Uk zs, (E518) 267,881 (266,990)
Total comprehensive income FE BT 693,621 189,841
Dividend paid to non-controlling {4 A% 8 F IEIE A 26,638 59,427

interests
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(continued) (#&)

39 TEMBLAAIRZEFEEE
Bz 1E (&)

39 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities (Continued)

(b) TR#|EIIPMPRRENBEAR (FEH
HEEMSBERZFERER) S
HMBENSE - THRERSAREY
SHAI 2 &5 - ()

(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The
information below is the amount before inter-company

eliminations: (Continued)

CCNG CCNG
b Lk B R
2017 2016
—E—tfF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiT
Net cash generated from KEEBEE RS FE
operating activities 986,390 880,631
Net cash used in investing KREFRBMAZA ST
activities (481,667) (96,940)
Net cash used in financing BEEBPTA 2R e FRE
activities (200,713) (924,844)
Net increase/(decrease) in Re kRS FEEE
cash and cash equivalents B G F 8 304,010 (141,153)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—BzEBE2ERE
at 1 January ZEIEAE 1,040,994 1,316,869
Effect of foreign exchange [EREEr e
rate changes 85,534 (134,722)
Cash and cash equivalents R+-ZA=+—HzHRek
at 31 December ReFEER 1,430,538 1,040,994
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The Company controls a structured entity which operates in Hong
Kong, particulars of which are as follows:

(continued) (#)

AR - EEBBEENERE
HBEDT -

ik
fig

Structured entities Principal activities
“EER FEXEK
Best Thinker Limited (“Trustee”) Purchases, administers and holds the Company’s shares for the Restricted Share

Award Scheme for the benefit of eligible employees of the Group

Best Thinker Limited ([ &EA 1) REBESEREENEMRSIMER D ZBABEA - EEEFEARRD

As the Trustee is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing,
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the
Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 32(c)), the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
the Trustee and it can derive benefits from the services of the
employees who have been awarded the Restricted Shares through
their continued employment with the Group. The assets and
liabilities of the Trustee are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position from its adoption and the Company’s shares
held by the Trustee are presented as a deduction in equity as
“shares held for share award scheme”.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2018.

BN EEATIE 7 54 IR B 1 10 228
FHEI(ME32ANEA - EBRFAR
AIRMMRE - REIARERTTEA
BB B R B TR - AT AL SRR
HERNHES TREXENEERPT
RENRBESHZ - XEANEE
FBEEEERERMKESBREER
AFEAMBIRRT  LHZFEAR
BRRARIBM R —EINRIREE £#E
SR ER - SHE B EREE A

ptn ] e

BERN _ZE-NF=A-F+tR#ELAER
RIETRREMHRE
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2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
FasE FExT FHET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Intangible assets mpAE 1,702 1,702
Interests in subsidiaries N EERNGIE 5,096,529 5,437,320
Available-for-sale financial assets At EMEEE 20,050 20,050
5,118,281 5,459,072
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables HAb U FRIA 51,218 66,588
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEFMEIER 3,027 102,584
54,245 169,172
Current liabilities mENAE
Other payables H b fE 518 (42,447) (43,944)
Net current assets MENEE R 11,798 125,228
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAR 5,130,079 5,584,300
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Senior notes BEER (4,970,240) (5,006,417)
Net assets BEFHE 159,839 577,883
Equity S
Equity attributable to owners NREB ANEEEE
of the Company
Share capital A& 32 58,257 58,257
Reserves i 41 101,582 519,626
Total equity TS AAEE 159,839 577,883

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by
the Board of Directors on 27 March 2018 and was signed on its behalf.

Xu Tie-liang

Guan Yijun

Director Director
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Capital

Share  redemption
premium reserve
g4

Bl REGR
HKS'000  HK$'000

(continued) (#)

Shares Exchange (Note)
held for share  fluctuation ~ Contributed ~ Accumulated
award scheme reserve surplus losses Total
AR
LR ] (M)

BRRf EXRBRE  SABR  ZHER i
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

T Thn Thr T TEn TR TEn

At 1 January 2016 RZE2—~5-A-A 24,578 998 (275,629) (16,836) 1,520,328 (444,075) 809,364
Vesting of shares under share award scheme  1RERIA 2Bzt EISEIR D = = 1,798 = = = 1,798
Exchange differences on translating BERNEBNEL Z8

foreign operations - - - (706) - - (706)
Shares purchased for share award scheme ARG RE BEEER L - - (31,879) - - = (31,879)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (258.955) (258,955
At 31 December 2016 RZT—ETZA=1-H 24,578 998 (305,706) (17,542) 1,520,328 (703,030) 519,626
Vesting of shares under share award scheme  1RIERI7 2B EI B - - 991 - - = 991
Exchange differences on translating REBNSHRELEE

foreign operations - - - (802) - - (802)
Shares purchased for share award scheme ~ ARIAEEEEE RN - - (104,257) = = - (104,257)
Loss for the year EmEE - - - - - (284848)  (284,849)
Final dividend for the year ended HE-3—E+ZA=1-H

31 December 2016 IFERZRHARE = = = = (29,128) - (29,128)
At 31 December 2017 RZF—tE+ZA=1-A 24578 998 (408972) (18,344) 1,491,200 (987,878) 101,582
Note: ffsE -

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the net assets
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in
1993 over the nominal value of the Company’'s shares issued in exchange
thereof. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda 1981 (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is distributable to the shareholders in certain
circumstances which the Company is able to satisfy.

RAZHABHREEEAR - NN =FESHEMK
FEME AR 2 BEFEBH A B R s 21T
MZEEZE2E - RE-NAN-FBEFREQFE
(BETA) - RAIZBARBES THERTAHD
IRTRCR - HEBATABIRBET A UL EFEM -
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

i@

A A
20k -

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-HA=+—BLFE

UTEERBERBAVRFER 2 EEREERR
& DRSAE B 2 KERMBHRRL TINE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tF —T—RF T—HF —TNF —ZT—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAET FAET FHET
Results B
Revenue - 7,651,280 6,446,452 7,373,902 7,697,811 6,439,825
Profit before taxation BREERT R A 811,466 842,129 50,190 854,163 1,178,540
Taxation I8 (188,527) (184,461) (20,857) (217,565) (240,945)
Profit for the year F R A 622,939 657,668 29,333 636,598 937,595
Attributable to: AT 4l -
Owners of the Company NEEE A 250,467 311,791 (183,831) 308,650 401,494
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 372,472 345,877 213,164 327,948 536,101
622,939 657,668 29,333 636,598 937,595
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=t+—8
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—B—tE —T—RF ZT—HE T-NF —T—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET FET FHET
Assets and liabilities EENAE
Total assets BEE 15,546,601 13,603,839 14,087,638 15,467,449 12,156,658
Total liabilities mafms (9,340,946) (8,352,885)  (8,887,384) (9,374,700)  (6,330,511)
Total equity 48R 6,205,655 5,250,954 5,200,254 6,092,749 5,826,147
Non-controlling interests IR R (2,861,109)  (2,420,523) (2,423,190) (2,491,642) (2,278,767)
Equity attributable to owners NSIEZS DN
of the Company fEfh S 3,334,546 2,830,431 2,777,064 3,601,107 3,547,380
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